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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Board of Directors of 
Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation 
 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation (the “Company”), which 
comprise the balance sheets as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related statements of operations and 
comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for each of the three years in the 
period ended March 31, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements (collectively referred to as 
the "financial statements"). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows 
for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2024 in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant 
ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
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misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

 

 

 
 
June 28, 2024 

lij100
Text Box
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NIAGARA MOHAWK POWER CORPORATION 
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(in thousands of dollars) 
 
    

   Years Ended March 31,  

    2024  2023  2022 

         

Operating revenues  $          4,147,754  $        4,253,793  $        3,926,051 

         
Operating expenses:       

 Purchased electricity              1,098,750             1,176,783   1,008,856 

 Purchased gas                 196,009                378,839  306,464 

 Operations and maintenance              1,672,153  1,568,959  1,521,736 

 Depreciation and amortization                 393,716  367,662  349,621 

 Other taxes                 335,934  323,605  326,403 

  Total operating expenses              3,696,562             3,815,848  3,513,080 

         
Operating income                 451,192  437,945  412,971 

         
Other income and (deductions):       

 Interest on long-term debt, net              (169,934)  (149,793)  (128,406) 

 Other interest, including affiliate interest, net                 (53,636)                (26,813)  3,114 

 Other income, net                 146,426                140,466  69,644 

  Total other deductions, net                 (77,144)  (36,140)  (55,648) 

         
Income before income taxes                 374,048                401,805  357,323 

         
Income tax expense                   47,175  37,126  31,384 

         

Net income  $             326,873  $            364,679  $           325,939 

       

Other comprehensive income‚ net of taxes:       

    Unrealized gains (losses) on securities, net of $0,        

     $0, and $11 taxes in 2024, 2023, and 2022,        

     respectively                              -                       -  (32) 

    Change in pension and other postretirement                      

    obligations, net of $5, $(108), and $(393) 
 

     

     taxes in 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively                         (16)                    305  1,109 

Total other comprehensive income (loss)                         (16)  305  1,077 

           

Comprehensive income   $             326,857  $            364,984  $           327,016 

        
       

 
 

 
  



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NIAGARA MOHAWK POWER CORPORATION 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(in thousands of dollars) 

         Years Ended March 31, 

        2024  2023  2022 

Operating activities:       
 Net income  $                 326,873                   $                364,679  $              325,939 

 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating 
activities:      

  Depreciation and amortization  393,716  367,662                349,621  

  Accrued interest on tax reserves  535  (506)                   (2,806) 

  Regulatory amortizations  (94,613)  14,553                   9,617 

  Deferred income tax expense (benefit)  16,161  44,098                      (91,556) 

  Bad debt expense  111,716  35,584                48,303  

  Allowance for equity funds used during construction  (18,146)  (26,077)                 (17,526) 

  Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs  2,562  2,843                    2,620  

  Pension and postretirement benefits expenses (income), net   (9,106)            5,025            6,107 
 Pension and postretirement benefits contributions, net  8,973  11,730  8,500 

 Environmental remediation payments  (13,162)  (29,149)  (15,188) 

 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       

  Accounts receivable and other receivables‚ net and unbilled revenues (151,401)  (114,049)  (189,246) 

  Accounts receivable from/payable to affiliates, net   (11,490)  27,857                 12,775 

  Inventory  (29,154)  (53,847)                       (8,435) 

  Regulatory assets and liabilities, (current), net  35,531  (131,958)  408,777 

  Regulatory assets and liabilities, (non-current), net  (73,040)  (198,367)  (58,668) 

  Derivative instruments   7,201  316,674  (288,146) 

  Prepaid and accrued taxes, net  6,925  (113,589)  60,988 

  Accounts payable and other liabilities  3,451  107,713                  136,642 

  Environmental remediation  31,983  19,475  59,328 

  Transmission congestion contracts  (150,574)  114,377  64,351 

  Renewable energy certificate obligations, net   (8,819)  (16,711)                    15,565 

  Other, net  (19,681)  23,078                     (18,194) 

   Net cash provided by operating activities  366,441  771,095  819,368 

Investing activities:       

 Capital expenditures  (1,459,793)  (1,101,681)               (912,609) 

 Cost of removal  (95,586)  (74,827)                 (61,417) 

 Intercompany money pool   (264,994)  227,291                 (108,983) 

 Proceeds from sale of assets  15,461  -  - 

 Other, net  739  5,335               27,692 

   Net cash used in investing activities  (1,804,173)          (943,882)  (1,055,317) 

Financing activities:       
 Common stock dividends to Parent  -  -               (200,000) 

 Preferred stock dividends  (1,060)  (1,060)                   (1,060) 

 Payments on long-term debt  (69,800)  (300,000)                          -    
 Issuance of long-term debt  1,200,000  500,000             400,000  
 Payment of debt issuance cost  (7,500)  (4,088)                   (2,006) 

 Capital contributions   300,000  -               - 

   Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  1,421,640            194,852  196,934 

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and special deposits (16,092)  22,066                  (39,015)  
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and special deposits, beginning of year 33,349  11,283                  50,298  

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and special deposits, end of year  $                   17,257                     $                   33,349  $                    11,283 

Supplemental disclosures:       

 Interest paid (net of amounts capitalized)  $               (150,330)  $              (148,458)  $               (121,882)            

 Income taxes paid  (41,647)                                   (105,269)                   (66,176) 

Significant non-cash items:       

 Capital-related accruals included in accounts payable  35,171  35,295                  74,212  

 ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities  92,458  156,501  - 
 Parent tax loss allocation  -  15,298                  17,528  

 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NIAGARA MOHAWK POWER CORPORATION 

BALANCE SHEETS 
(in thousands of dollars) 

   March 31, 

   2024  2023 

      
ASSETS     

      
Current assets:     

 Cash and cash equivalents   $                                8,256  $                        15,248 

 Restricted cash and special deposits  9,001                 18,101 

 Accounts receivable, net   544,131               537,543 

 Accounts receivable from affiliates  45,146                 44,023 

 Intercompany money pool  276,806                 11,812 

 Unbilled revenues, net  179,262               130,410 

 Inventory  157,683  128,529 

 Regulatory assets   212,424  99,191 

 Derivative instruments  32,850  57,512 

 Prepayments   68,904  71,756 

 Prepaid Taxes   62,611  56,803 

 Other  22,975  13,200 

        Total current assets  1,620,049  1,184,128 

      

Investments in affiliates  778  778 

      

Property, plant and equipment, net  13,654,650  12,460,483 

      

Non-current assets:     

 Regulatory assets  1,168,628  983,831 

 Goodwill  1,289,132  1,289,132 

 Derivative instruments   8,997  8,588 

 Postretirement benefits   668,840  651,151 

 Other  85,361  56,879 

      Total non-current assets  3,220,958  2,989,581 

      

Total assets  $                       18,496,435  $                16,634,970 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NIAGARA MOHAWK POWER CORPORATION 

BALANCE SHEETS 
(in thousands of dollars) 

 

   March 31, 

   2024  2023 

      
LIABILITIES AND CAPITALIZATION     
      
Current liabilities:     

 Accounts payable   $                          380,318                            $                        429,227 

 Accounts payable to affiliates  164,275  174,642 
 Current portion of long-term debt  500,000  69,800 

 Taxes accrued  64,322                        60,706  

 Customer deposits   39,510                          53,107  
 Interest accrued  61,768                          47,556  

 Regulatory liabilities  785,960                        636,943  
 Derivative instruments  71,941  78,913 
 Operating lease liability  43,645                              39,837  

 Renewable energy certificate obligations  52,810                          61,629  
 Distributed generation  189,356                        195,306  
 Transmission congestion contracts  70,578  219,233 

 Other  242,635                        171,410  

      Total current liabilities  2,667,118  2,238,309 

      

Non-current liabilities:     

 Regulatory liabilities  2,546,884                     2,508,545  

 Deferred income tax liabilities, net  1,251,357                     1,168,611  

 Postretirement benefits   14,189                             53,438  

 Environmental remediation costs  382,508                        371,850  
 Derivative instruments  35,746  45,826 
 Operating lease liability  348,032                          304,447  

 Other  284,331                        289,402  

      Total non-current liabilities  4,863,047  4,742,119 

      

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)     

      

Capitalization:     

 Shareholders’ equity  6,135,523  5,517,824 

 Long-term debt  4,830,747  4,136,718 

Total capitalization  10,966,270  9,654,542 

      

Total liabilities and capitalization  $                     18,496,435  $                  16,634,970 
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NIAGARA MOHAWK POWER CORPORATION 
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

(in thousands of dollars)  
 

 

 

 
 
The Company had 187,364,863 shares of common stock authorized, issued and outstanding, with a par value of $1 per share and 289,848 shares of cumulative preferred stock authorized, issued and outstanding, 
with a par value of $100 per share as of March 31, 2024 and 2023.  
 
(1) See Note 4, “Allowance for Doubtful Accounts” for additional information. 

 

 

 

 

 

        Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)     

    Cumulative  Additional  Unrealized Gain  Pension and  Total Accumulated      
  Common  Preferred  Paid-in  (Loss) on-  Other Postretirement  Other Comprehensive  Retained   
  Stock  Stock  Capital   Securities  Benefits  Income (Loss)  Earnings  Total 

Balance as of March 31, 2021 $        187,365  $           28,985  $       3,115,038  $                                      646  $                                            751  $                                   1,397  $              1,662,333  $              4,995,118 

Net income -  -  -  -  -  -  325,939  325,939 

Other comprehensive income (loss):                
 Unrealized gains on securities, net of $11 tax expense -  -  -  (32)  -  (32)  -  (32) 
 Change in pension and other postretirement obligations, 

net of $241 tax expense 
 

               
  net of $393 tax expense -  -  -  -  1,109  1,109  -  1,109 

Total comprehensive income               327,016 
                  
Parent tax loss allocation -  -  17,528  -  -  -  -  17,528 
Common stock dividends to Parent -  -  -  -  -  -  (200,000)  (200,000) 

Preferred stock dividends -  -  -  -  -  -  (1,060)  (1,060) 

                  
Balance as of March 31, 2022 $        187,365  $           28,985  $       3,132,566  $                                      614  $                                           1,860  $                                 2,474  $             1,787,212  $              5,138,602 

Net income -  -  -  -  -    364,679  364,679 

Other comprehensive income (loss):                
 Change in pension and other postretirement obligations,                
  net of $108 tax expense -  -  -  -  305  305  -  305 

Total comprehensive income               364,984 
                  
Parent tax loss allocation -  -  15,298  -  -  -  -  15,298 

Preferred stock dividends -  -  -  -  -  -  (1,060)  (1,060) 

                  
Balance as of March 31, 2023  $       187,365          $           28,985            $       3,147,864        $                                      614                                    $                                          2,165                                        $                                   2,779                                    $              2,150,831               $              5,517,824               

Net income -  -  -  -  -  -  326,873  326,873 

Other comprehensive income (loss):                
 Change in pension and other postretirement obligations,                 
  net of $6 tax benefit -  -  -  -  (16)  (16)  -  (16) 

Total comprehensive income               326,857 
                  
Equity infusion from Parent     300,000          300,000 

Parent tax loss allocation -  -    -  -  -  -   

Implementation of ASC 326, net of $2,865 of tax benefit (1)             (8,098)  (8,098) 

Preferred stock dividends -  -  -  -  -  -  (1,060)  (1,060) 

                  
Balance as of March 31, 2024  $       187,365          $           28,985            $       3,447,864  $                                      614                                                                      $                                           2,149                                             $                                   2,763                                     $              2,468,546                $              6,135,523   
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NIAGARA MOHAWK POWER CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
  
Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation (“the Company”), a New York Corporation, is engaged principally in the regulated energy 
delivery business in New York State. The Company provides electric service to approximately 1.7 million customers in the 
areas of eastern, central, northern, and western New York and sells, distributes, and transports natural gas to approximately 
0.6 million customers in the areas of central, northern, and eastern New York.  
 
The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Niagara Mohawk Holdings, Inc. (“NMHI”), which is a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of National Grid USA (“NGUSA” or the “Parent”), a public utility holding company with regulated subsidiaries engaged in the 
generation of electricity and the transmission, distribution, and sale of both natural gas and electricity. NGUSA is a direct 
wholly-owned subsidiary of National Grid North America Inc. (“NGNA”) and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of National 
Grid plc, a public limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales. 
 
The accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), including the accounting principles for rate-regulated entities. The financial 
statements reflect the ratemaking practices of the applicable regulatory authorities.  
 
The Company has evaluated subsequent events and transactions through June 28, 2024, the date of issuance of these 
financial statements, and concluded that there were no events or transactions that require adjustment to, or disclosure in, 
the financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2024.  
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
In preparing financial statements that conform to U.S. GAAP, the Company must make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities included in 
the financial statements. Such estimates and assumptions are reflected in the accompanying financial statements. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 
 
Regulatory Accounting 
 
The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) and the New York Public Service Commission (“NYPSC”) regulate the 
rates the Company charges its customers. The rates charged to our customers are designed to collect the Company's costs to 
provide service, plus a return on investment. In certain cases, the rate actions of the FERC and NYPSC can result in accounting 
that differs from non-regulated companies. In these cases, the Company defers costs (as regulatory assets) or recognizes 
obligations (as regulatory liabilities) if it is probable that such amounts will be recovered from, or refunded to, customers 
through future rates. In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 980, “Regulated Operations,”, regulatory 
assets and liabilities are reflected on the balance sheet consistent with the treatment of the related costs in the ratemaking 
process. 

 
Revenue Recognition 
 
Revenues are recognized for energy service billed on a monthly cycle basis, together with unbilled revenues for the estimated 
amount of services rendered from the time meters were last read to the end of the accounting period. See Note 3, “Revenue” 
for additional details. 
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Income Taxes 
 
Federal and state income taxes have been computed utilizing the asset and liability approach that requires the recognition of 
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the tax consequences of temporary differences by applying enacted statutory tax rates 
applicable to future years to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing assets 
and liabilities. Deferred income taxes also reflect the tax effect of net operating losses, capital losses, and general business 
credit carryforwards. The Company assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether enough future 
taxable income of the appropriate tax character will be generated to realize the benefits of existing deferred tax assets. When 
the evaluation of the evidence indicates that the Company will not be able to realize the benefits of existing deferred tax 
assets, a valuation allowance is recorded to reduce existing deferred tax assets to the net realizable amount. 
 
The effects of tax positions are recognized in the financial statements when it is more likely than not that the position taken, 
or expected to be taken, in a tax return will be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities based on the technical merits 
of the position. The financial effect of changes in tax laws or rates is accounted for in the period of enactment. Deferred 
investment tax credits are amortized over the useful life of the underlying property.  
 
NGNA files consolidated federal tax returns including all the activities of its subsidiaries. Each subsidiary determines its tax 
provision based on the separate return method, modified by a benefits-for-loss allocation pursuant to a tax sharing 
agreement between NGNA and its subsidiaries. The benefit of consolidated tax losses and credits are allocated to the NGNA 
subsidiaries giving rise to such benefits in determining each subsidiary’s tax expense in the year that the loss or credit arises. 
In a year that a consolidated loss or credit carryforward is utilized, the tax benefit utilized in consolidation is paid 
proportionately to the subsidiaries that gave rise to the benefit regardless of whether that subsidiary would have utilized the 
benefit. The tax sharing agreement also requires NGNA to allocate its parent tax losses, excluding deductions from acquisition 
indebtedness to each subsidiary in the consolidated federal tax return with taxable income. The allocation of NGNA’s parent 
tax losses to its subsidiaries is accounted for as a capital contribution and is performed in conjunction with the annual 
intercompany cash settlement process following the filing of the federal tax return. The Corporate Alternative Minimum Tax 
(“CAMT”) is allocated based on the ratio of separate company CAMT to total consolidated NGNA CAMT. 
 
Other Taxes 
 
The Company collects taxes and fees from customers such as sales taxes, other taxes, surcharges, and fees that are levied by 
state or local governments on the sale or distribution of gas and electricity. The Company accounts for taxes that are imposed 
on customers (such as sales taxes) on a net basis (excluded from revenues), while taxes imposed on the Company, such as 
excise taxes, are recognized on a gross basis. Excise taxes collected and expected to be paid for the years ended March 31, 
2024, 2023, and 2022 were $48.2 million, $48.2 million, and $48.1 million, respectively. 
 
The state of New York imposes on corporations a franchise tax that is computed as the higher of a tax based on income or a 
tax based on capital. To the extent the Company’s state tax based on capital is in excess of the state tax based on income, 
the Company reports such excess in other taxes and taxes accrued in the accompanying financial statements.  
 
The Company’s policy is to accrue for property taxes on a calendar year basis. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and 
cash equivalents are carried at cost which approximates fair value. 
 
Restricted Cash and Special Deposits 
 
Restricted cash consists of margin calls to the New York Mercantile Exchange (“NYMEX”) and collateral paid to the Company’s 
counterparties for outstanding commodity and financial derivative instruments. 
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Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  
 
The Company recognizes an allowance for doubtful account to reflect certain financial assets (including accounts receivable, 
other accounts receivable, and unbilled accrued revenues) net of expected credit losses, at estimated net realizable value. 
Effective April 1, 2023, the current expected credit loss model was applied for purposes of calculating the allowance for 
doubtful accounts.  
 
The allowance for doubtful accounts is determined based on a variety of factors, including, for each type of receivable, 
applying an estimated reserve percentage to each aging category, which takes into account historical collections, write-off 
experience, and management's assessment of collectability from customers, as appropriate. Management continuously 
assesses the collectability of receivables and adjusts estimates accordingly if circumstances change and such adjustments are 
reasonable and supportable based on actual experience, current conditions, and forward-looking information as well as 
future expectations. Receivable balances are written-off against the allowance for doubtful accounts when the accounts are 
disconnected and/or terminated, and when such balances are deemed to be uncollectible. The Company recorded bad debt 
expense of $111.7 million, ($4.4) million and $48.3 million for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively, 
within operation and maintenance expenses in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive income. For 
the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2024, bad debt expense reflects the impact of the Phase 1 and Phase 2 Arrears Reduction 
programs. See Note 6, “Rate Matters” for additional details. 
 
Inventory 
 
Inventory is composed of materials and supplies, purchased Renewable Energy Certificates (“RECs”), as well as gas in storage. 
 
Gas in storage is stated at weighted average cost and the related cost is recognized when delivered to customers. Existing 
rate orders allow the Company to pass directly through to customers the cost of gas purchased, along with any applicable 
authorized delivery surcharge adjustments. Gas costs passed through to customers are subject to regulatory approvals and 
are audited annually by the NYPSC. 
 
Materials and supplies are stated at weighted average cost, which represents net realizable value, and are expensed or 
capitalized into property, plant and equipment as used. There were no significant write-offs of obsolete inventory for the 
years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, or 2022. Purchased RECs are stated at cost. 
 
The Company had materials and supplies of $139.2 million and $90.4 million and gas in storage of $18.5 million and $38.1 
million as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. There were no amounts for purchased RECs as of March 31, 2024 and 
2023. 
 
Renewable Energy Standard Obligation 
 
RECs and Zero-Emissions Credits (“ZECs”) are stated at cost and are used to measure compliance with State renewable energy 
standards. RECs support new renewable generation resources whereas ZECs support generation by in-state nuclear power 
plants and are purchased through the New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (“NYSERDA”). RECs and 
ZECs are held primarily to be utilized in fulfillment of New York State compliance obligations. As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, 
the Company recorded a renewable energy standard obligation of $52.8 million and $61.6 million, respectively. 
 
Transmission congestion contracts 

 

The Company participates in the New York Independent Service Operator’s (“NYISO”) Transmission Congestion Contracts 

Auctions. The auctions are held before the start of the next capability period for both summer and winter. The Company 

receives proceeds upfront through the NYISO for the sale of these transmission rights on its transmission system.  The 

compensation received is recorded as a current or non-current obligation in which the performance obligation is typically 

satisfied over a six-month or twelve-month period. See Note 3, “Revenue” for additional details. 
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Derivative Instruments 
 
The Company uses derivative instruments to manage commodity price risk. All derivative instruments, except those that 
qualify for the normal purchase normal sale exception, are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. All commodity costs, 
including the impact of derivative instruments, are passed on to customers through the Company’s commodity rate 
adjustment mechanisms. Regulatory assets or regulatory liabilities are recorded to defer the recognition of unrealized losses 
or gains on derivative instruments, respectively. The gains or losses on the settlement of these contracts are recognized as 
purchased electricity and purchased gas on the statements of operations and comprehensive income and then refunded to, 
or collected from, customers consistent with regulatory requirements. 
 
The Company has certain non-trading instruments for the physical purchase of electricity that qualify for the normal purchase 
normal sale exception and are accounted for upon settlement. If the Company were to determine that a contract no longer 
qualifies for the normal purchase normal sale exception, then the Company would recognize the fair value of the contract 
and account for the gains and losses using the regulatory accounting described above.  
 
The Company’s accounting policy is to not offset fair value amounts recognized for derivative instruments and related cash 
collateral receivable or payable with the same counterparty under a master netting agreement, but rather to record and 
present the fair value of the derivative instrument on a gross basis, with related cash collateral recorded within restricted 
cash and special deposits on the balance sheet.  
 
Fair Value Measurements 
 
The Company measures derivative instruments, securities and pension and postretirement benefit other than pension plan 
assets at fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The following is the fair value hierarchy that prioritizes 
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value: 
 

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that a company has the ability 
to access as of the reporting date;  

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are directly observable for the asset or liability 
or indirectly observable through corroboration with observable market data;  

- Level 3: unobservable inputs, such as internally developed forward curves and pricing models for the asset or liability 
due to little or no market activity for the asset or liability with low correlation to observable market inputs; and 

- Not categorized: Investments in certain funds, that meet certain conditions of ASC 820, are not required to be 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy. These investments are typically in commingled funds or limited 
partnerships that are not publicly traded and have ongoing subscription and redemption activity. As a practical 
expedient, the fair value of these investments is the Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per fund share. 

 
The asset or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company uses valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at original cost. The capitalized cost of additions to property, plant and equipment 
includes costs such as direct material, labor and benefits, and an allowance for funds used during construction (“AFUDC”). 
The cost of repairs and maintenance is charged to expense and the cost of renewals and betterments that extend the useful 
life of property, plant and equipment is capitalized. 
 
Depreciation is computed over the estimated useful life of the asset using the composite straight-line method. Depreciation 
studies are conducted periodically to update the composite rates and are approved by the NYPSC. The average composite 
rates for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 are as follows: 
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 Composite Rates 

 March 31, 

 2024  2023  2022 

Electric 2.4%  2.4%  2.4% 

Gas 2.4%  2.3%  2.1% 

Common 2.8%  2.9%  2.9% 

 
Depreciation expense includes a component for the estimated cost of removal, which is recovered through rates charged to 
customers. Any difference in cumulative costs recovered and costs incurred is recognized as a regulatory asset or liability. 
When property, plant and equipment is retired, the original cost, less salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation, and 
the related cost of removal is removed from the associated regulatory liability. See Note 5, “Regulatory Assets and Liabilities” 
for additional details. 
 
Allowance for Funds Used During Construction 
 
The Company records AFUDC, which represents the debt and equity costs of financing the construction of new property, 
plant and equipment. The equity component of AFUDC is reported in the accompanying statements of operations and 
comprehensive income as non-cash income in other income, net. The debt component of AFUDC is reported as a non-cash 
offset to other interest, including affiliate interest, net. After construction is completed, the Company is permitted to recover 
these costs through their inclusion in rate base. The Company recorded AFUDC related to equity of $18.1 million, $26.1 
million, and $17.5 million, and AFUDC related to debt of $16.9 million, $9.6 million, and $6.6 million, for the years ended 
March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. The average AFUDC rates for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 
were 5.9%, 6.3%, and 6.2%, respectively. 
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
 
The Company tests the impairment of long-lived assets when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of the asset (or asset group) may not be recoverable. If identified, the recoverability of an asset is determined by 
comparing its carrying value to the estimated undiscounted cash flows that the asset is expected to generate. If the 
comparison indicates that the carrying value is not recoverable, an impairment loss is recognized for the excess of the carrying 
value over the estimated fair value. For the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, there were no impairment losses 
recognized for long-lived assets. 
 
Goodwill 
 
The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently if events occur or circumstances exist that indicate it is 
more likely than not that the fair value of the Company is below its carrying amount. The goodwill impairment test requires a 
recoverability test based on the comparison of the Company’s estimated fair value with its carrying value, including goodwill. If 
the estimated fair value exceeds the carrying value, goodwill is not considered impaired. If the carrying value exceeds the 
estimated fair value, the Company is required to recognize an impairment charge for such excess, limited to the carrying amount 
of goodwill. 
 
The Company applies two valuation methodologies to estimate its fair value, principally discounted projected future net cash 
flows and market-based multiples, commonly referred to as the income approach and market approach. Key assumptions include, 
but are not limited to, estimated future cash flows, multiples of earnings, and an appropriate discount rate. In estimating future 
cash flows, the Company incorporates current market information and historical factors. The determination of fair value 
incorporates significant unobservable inputs, requiring the Company to make significant judgments, whereby actual results 
may differ from assumed and estimated amounts. The Company applied a 50/50 weighting for each valuation methodology, 
as it believes that each approach provides equally valuable and reliable information regarding the Company’s estimated fair 
value.   
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The Company performed its latest annual goodwill impairment test as of October 1, 2023, at which time the Company’s 
estimated fair value exceeded the carrying value. The Company did not recognize any goodwill impairment during the years 
ending March 31, 2024, 2023, or 2022.  
 
Asset Retirement Obligations 
 
Asset retirement obligations are recognized for legal obligations associated with the retirement of property, plant and 
equipment, primarily associated with the Company’s gas distribution and electric generation facilities. Asset retirement 
obligations are recorded at fair value in the period in which the obligation is incurred, if the fair value can be reasonably 
estimated. In the period in which new asset retirement obligations, or changes to the timing or amount of existing retirement 
obligations are recorded, the associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related 
long-lived asset. In each subsequent period the asset retirement obligation is accreted to its present value at the credit 
adjusted risk free rate. 
 
Accretion and depreciation expenses for the Company’s regulated subsidiaries are deferred as part of the Company’s asset 
retirement obligation regulatory asset. As the subsidiaries are rate-regulated, both the depreciation and accretion costs 
associated with the regulated companies' asset retirement obligation are recorded as increases to regulatory assets on the 
balance sheets. 
 
The Company does not recognize liabilities for asset retirement obligations for which the fair value cannot be reasonably 
estimated. Due to the indeterminate removal date, the fair value of the associated liabilities on certain transmission, 
distribution and other assets cannot currently be estimated, and no amounts are recognized on the financial statements 
other than those included in the cost of removal regulatory liability established via approved depreciation rates in accordance 
with accepted regulatory practices. 
 
Employee Benefits 
 
The Company has defined benefit pension plans and postretirement benefit other than pension (“PBOP”) plans for its employees. 
The Company recognizes all pension and PBOP plans’ funded status on the balance sheet as a net liability or asset with an 
offsetting adjustment to either accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) in shareholders’ equity or to regulatory 
assets or liabilities if the cost of providing these plans is recovered through rates.  The Company measures and records its 
pension and PBOP funded status at the year-end date. Pension and PBOP plan assets are measured at fair value, using the 
year-end market value of those assets.  
 
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plans 
 
The Company has corporate assets included in other non-current assets on the balance sheet representing funds designated 
for Supplemental Executive Retirement Plans, nonqualified retirement, and deferred compensation benefits. These funds are 
invested in securities primarily consisting of equity investments and investments in municipal and corporate bonds.  
 
Leases 
 
The Company has various operating leases, primarily related to a transmission line, buildings, land, and fleet vehicles. Right-
of-use (“ROU”) assets consist of the lease liability, together with any payments made to the lessor prior to commencement 
of the lease (less any lease incentives) and any initial direct costs. ROU assets are amortized over the lease term. Lease 
liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the lease payments over the lease term at the commencement date. 
For any leases that do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses an estimate of its collateralized incremental borrowing 
rate based on the information available at the commencement date to determine the present value of future payments. In 
measuring lease liabilities, the Company excludes variable lease payments, other than those that depend on an index or a 
rate, or are in substance fixed payments, and includes lease payments made at or before the commencement date. Variable 
lease payments were not material for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.  
 
The Company recognizes lease expense based on a pattern that conforms to the regulatory ratemaking treatment. 
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New and Recent Accounting Guidance 
 
Accounting Guidance Recently Adopted  
 
Financial Instruments – Credit Losses 
 
In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-13 
“Financial Instruments–Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Statements” which requires a 
financial asset (or a group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount expected 
to be collected. The accounting standard provides a new model for recognizing credit losses on financial instruments based 
on an estimate of current expected credit losses that replaces existing incurred loss impairment methodology requiring 
delayed recognition of credit losses. A broader range of reasonable and supportable information must be considered in 
developing estimates of credit losses. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the 
amortized cost basis of the financial asset(s) to present the net carrying value at the amount expected to be collected on the 
financial asset. Credit losses relating to available-for-sale debt securities should be recorded through an allowance for credit 
losses. 
 
In May 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-05, “Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Targeted Transition Relief”, 
permitting entities to irrevocably elect the fair value option for financial instruments that were previously recorded at 
amortized cost basis within the scope of Topic 326, except for held-to-maturity debt securities. In March 2022, the FASB 
issued ASU 2022-02, “Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage 
Disclosures.” The update eliminates the accounting guidance for troubled debt restructurings by creditors and enhances the 
disclosure requirements for loan refinancing and restructurings made with borrowers experiencing financial difficulty. 
 
The Company adopted this new guidance on April 1, 2023. The adoption of this new standard resulted in an increase to the 
Company’s allowance for credit losses as of April 1, 2023. See Note 4, “Allowance for Doubtful Accounts” for further 
information. 
 
Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted   
  

Income Taxes (Topic 740): Income Tax Disclosures  
  

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures” which 
improves the income tax disclosures by requiring disaggregated information about a reporting entity’s effective tax rate 
reconciliation as well as information on income taxes paid.   
  
The Company will early adopt this standard for annual periods effective April 1, 2025. The Company is currently assessing the 
application of the new guidance but does not expect the adoption to have a material impact. 
 
Reclassifications  
 
Certain reclassifications have been made to the financial statements to conform the prior period’s balances to the current 
period’s presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on reported income, statement of cash flows, total assets, or 
stockholders’ equity as previously reported. 
 
3. REVENUE 

 
The following table presents, for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, revenue from contracts with customers, 
as well as additional revenue from sources other than contracts with customers, disaggregated by major source: 
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                               Years ended March 31   

   2024  2023  2022 

   (in thousands of dollars) 

Revenue from contracts with customers:      

     Electric services $         3,512,362           $        3,534,616  $        3,216,967 

     Gas distribution 694,211  850,842  744,812 

Total revenue from contracts with customers 4,206,573  4,385,458  3,961,779 

Revenue from alternative revenue programs (87,803)  (160,069)  (67,791) 

Other revenue 28,984  28,404  32,063 

                       Total operating revenues $         4,147,754           $        4,253,793  $        3,926,051 

 
Electric Services and Gas Distribution: Revenue from contracts with customers, includes electric services and gas distribution. 
Electric services are comprised of electric distribution and transmission services. 
 
The Company owns and maintains an electric and natural gas distribution network in upstate New York. Distribution revenues 
are primarily from the sale of electricity, gas, and related services to retail customers. Distribution sales are regulated by the 
NYPSC, which is responsible for determining the prices and other terms of services as part of the rate making process. The 
arrangement where a utility provides a service to a customer in exchange for a price approved by a regulator is referred to 
as a tariff sales contract. Gas and electric distribution revenues are derived from the regulated sale and distribution of 
electricity and natural gas to residential, commercial, and industrial customers within the Company’s service territory under  
the tariff rates. The tariff rates approved by the regulator are designed to recover the costs incurred by the Company for 
products and services provided and along with a return on investment. 
 
The performance obligation related to distribution sales is to provide electricity and natural gas to the customers on demand. 
The electricity and natural gas supplied under the respective tariff each represents a single performance obligation as it is a 
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same. The performance obligation is satisfied over time because 
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the electricity or natural gas as the Company provides these services. 
The Company records revenues related to the distribution sales based upon the approved tariff rate and the volume delivered 
to the customers, which corresponds with the amount the Company has the right to invoice.   
 
The distribution revenue also includes estimated unbilled amounts, which represent the estimated amounts due from retail 
customers for electricity and natural gas provided to customers by the Company, but not yet billed. Unbilled revenues are 
determined based on estimated unbilled sales volumes for the respective customer classes and then applying the applicable 
tariff rate to those volumes. Actual amounts billed to customers when the meter readings occur, may be different from the 
estimated amounts.  
 
Certain customers have the option to obtain electricity or natural gas from other suppliers. In those circumstances, revenue 
is only recognized for providing delivery of the commodity to the customer.  
 
The Company owns and operates transmission facilities, which are used to transmit electricity on behalf of other parties and 
are subject to regulation by FERC. The Company provides open access to the transmission facilities based on the rates 
approved by the FERC, which are designed to recover the cost of providing the service along with a return on the investments 
made by the Company, including Transmission Congestion Contract auctions. The Company is a participant in the NYISO, the 
organization designated by the FERC for managing the movement of electricity across the New York electric grid. As a 
participant in the NYISO the Company is compensated by the NYISO for the use of its facilities to transmit electricity.  
 
Transmission services are provided as demanded by customers and represents a single performance obligation. The price for 
the services provided are based on the underlying tariff rates established by FERC related to both the Company and NYISO. 
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as the transmission services are provided by the Company. The Company 
records revenue related to transmission services based on the volumes delivered and the approved tariff rates, which 
corresponds with the amount the Company has the right to invoice, as the Company is entitled to compensation for the 
performance completed to date. 
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Revenue from Alternative Revenue Programs: The Company records revenues in accordance with accounting principles for 
rate-regulated operations for arrangements between the Company and the regulator, which are not accounted for as 
contracts with customers. These primarily include programs that qualify as Alternative Revenue Programs (“ARPs”). ARPs 
enable the Company to adjust rates in the future, in response to past activities or completed events. The Company’s electric 
and gas distribution rates both have a revenue decoupling mechanism (“RDM”) which allows for annual adjustments to the 
Company’s delivery rates as a result of the reconciliation between allowed revenue and billed revenue. The Company’s 
revenues also reflect adjustments for the difference between allowed transmission recoveries and actual transmission 
revenue. In addition, the Company has positive revenue adjustment mechanisms, such as earnings adjustment mechanisms 
related to the achievement of certain objectives towards meeting clean energy goals and demand side management 
initiatives, as well as, gas safety and reliability incentives, and a Smart Path Connect (“SPC”) Construction Work in Progress 
(“CWIP”) incentive. See Note 5 “Regulatory Assets and Liabilities” and Note 6, “Rate Matters” for further information on SPC.  
 
The Company recognizes revenue from ARPs with a corresponding offset to a regulatory asset or liability when the regulatory 
specified events or conditions have been met, when the amounts are determinable, and are probable of recovery (or 
payment) through future rate adjustments within 24-months from the end of the annual reporting period. 
 
Other Revenues: Includes lease income and other transactions that are not considered contracts with customer. 
 
4. ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS 
 
Receivables are recorded at amortized cost, net of a credit loss allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance primarily 
relates to trade receivables from utility customers (both billed and unbilled), as well as amounts receivable from various other 
counterparties such as governmental agencies, municipalities, and other utilities. The Company had a total allowance for 
doubtful accounts of $224.9 million and $196.7 million, of which $211.4 million and $196.7 million relates to Accounts 
receivable, $12.3 million and zero relates to Unbilled revenues, and $1.2 million and zero relates to certain Other non-current 
assets as of the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts for 
the year ended March 31, 2024 is as follows: 
 

    Year Ended March 31, 2024 
    (in thousands of dollars) 

    
Customers 
Accounts 

Receivables  

Other 
Accounts 

Receivables 
Total 

Allowance 

    

Beginning Balance as of April 1, 2023 $        176,101            $            20,598 $         196,699 

Impact of adoption of ASC Topic 326 on April 1, 2023                7,936                 3,027               10,963 

Credit Loss Expense              91,416              (1,640)               89,776 

Write-Offs           (99,494)              (3,822)          (103,316) 

Recoveries              28,006                 2,803               30,809 

Ending Balance as of March 31, 2024 $        203,965 $            20,966         $         224,931 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation 2024                                                                                                                                                                                                     19                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

5. REGULATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
The Company records regulatory assets and liabilities that result from the ratemaking process. The following table presents 
the regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities recorded on the balance sheets: 
 

    March 31,  

   2024  2023 

   (in thousands of dollars) 

Regulatory assets     
Current: 

 

     
Derivative instruments $          65,841            $          58,639   
Rate adjustment mechanisms 34,318  27,823 

  Clean Energy Standard 14,383  - 
  Gas cost adjustment 12,156  2,600   

Revenue decoupling mechanism 46,999  9,277 
  Smart Path Connect CWIP incentive 26,604  -   

Other 12,123  852   
Total 212,424  99,191 

 Non-current:      
Environmental response costs 413,103  394,285 

  Storm costs 554,634  376,835 
  Arrears reduction 84,739  104,663   

Other 116,152  108,048   
Total 1,168,628  983,831   

    
Regulatory liabilities     

Current: 
 

   
  Energy efficiency 323,385  313,565   

Rate adjustment mechanisms 429,760  283,673   
Other 32,815  39,705   

Total 785,960  636,943  
Non-current:     

 Cost of removal  303,197  312,081 
  Energy efficiency 126,758  81,030 
  Environmental response costs 86,580  79,841 
  Postretirement benefits 797,122  722,775 
  Property taxes 113,907  53,709   

Rate plan deferral credits 42,652  137,927   
Regulatory tax liability, net 576,341  645,797   
Other 500,327  475,385 

  Total $    2,546,884      $    2,508,545 
      

 
Regulatory assets associated with future financial obligations and were deferred in accordance with orders issued by the 
NYPSC do not earn a return until such time a cash outlay has been made.  As of March 31, 2024, regulatory assets of $562.2 
million ($73.6 million of Postretirement benefits, $413.1 million of Environmental response costs, $65.8 million of Derivative 
instruments and $9.7 million of Asset retirement obligations) did not earn a return. The recovery period of these regulatory 
assets is to be determined in future rate plans or other orders issued by the NYPSC. 
 
The Company recovers carrying charges related to regulatory assets where there has been a cash outlay. These carrying 
charges include an interest component, recognized as a component of regulatory assets, associated with the portion of the 
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regulatory assets deemed to be financed with debt. These carrying charges also include an equity return component, which 
is an allowance for earnings on shareholders’ investment. This equity return component will be recovered through future 
rates, but is not recognized for financial reporting purposes. There were no amounts for the equity return component not 
recognized in the financial statements as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  
 
Arrears reduction: This regulatory balance represents the deferral, net of recoveries, of the Arrears Reduction Program 
(“ARP”) Phase 1 and Phase 2. On June 16, 2022, the NYPSC approved the Order Authorizing Phase 1 ARP for Energy 
Affordability Programs (“EAP”) customers to provide the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) related relief  through a one-time 
bill credit that eliminates accrued arrears through May 1, 2022, including authorization for utility recovery of arrears 
reduction program costs not otherwise covered by funds provided through Utility Arrears Relief Program (“UARP”) or 
programs administered by the Office of Temporary and Disability Assistance (“OTDA”). The Phase 1 Order authorized recovery 
of the Phase 1 EAP ARP ratepayer funded portion and associated carrying charges over three years for the amount capitalized 
as a regulatory asset via a surcharge effectuated by a tariff filing effective August 1, 2022. On January 19, 2023, the NYPSC 
approved the Order Authorizing Phase 2 ARP for non-EAP residential and certain qualifying small business customers. The 
Phase 2 Order authorized recovery of the Phase 2 ARP ratepayer funded portion and associated carrying charges over six 
years for the amount capitalized as a regulatory asset via a surcharge effectuated by a tariff filing effective March 1, 2023. 
 
Clean Energy Standard: Under the Clean Energy Standard (“CES”) order issued by the NYPSC the Company is required to 
purchase RECs and ZECs to support the New York’s goal to reduce statewide greenhouse gas emissions. The Company defers 
the difference between the cost of the RECs and ZECs and the actual collections through the Clean Energy Standard Supply 
charge billed to retail commodity customers. In the prior fiscal year, the Clean Energy regulatory liability is reflected in current 
rate adjustment mechanisms and represents the actual CES collections in excess of costs.  
 
Cost of removal: Represents cumulative amounts collected, but not yet spent, to dispose of property, plant and equipment. 
This liability is discharged as removal costs are incurred. 
 
Derivative instruments: The Company evaluates open commodity derivative instruments for regulatory deferral by 
determining if they are probable of recovery from, or refund to, customers through future rates. Derivative instruments that 
qualify for recovery are recorded at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded as regulatory assets or regulatory liabilities 
in the period in which the change occurs.  
 
Energy efficiency: Represents the difference between revenue billed to customers through a rate allowance included in 
Company’s current rate plan and the costs of the Company’s energy efficiency programs as approved by the NYPSC.  
 
Environmental response costs: The regulatory asset represents deferred costs associated with the Company’s share of the 
estimated costs to investigate and perform certain remediation activities at sites with which it may be associated. The 
Company’s rate plans provide for specific rate allowances for these costs, with variances deferred for future recovery from, 
or return to, customers. The Company fully reconciles actual site investigations expenses to the annual rate allowance, any 
under or over expenditures is deferred for future refund to, or recovery from, customers. The regulatory liability represents 
actual expenses below the rate allowance. 
 
Gas costs adjustment: The Company is subject to rate adjustment mechanisms for commodity costs, whereby an asset or 
liability is recognized resulting from differences between billed revenues and the underlying cost of supply. These amounts 
will be refunded to, or recovered from, customers over the following calendar year. 
 
Postretirement benefits: The regulatory asset balance represents the Company’s, unamortized, non-cash accrual of net 
actuarial gains and losses in addition to actual costs associated with Company’s pension plans in excess of amounts received 
in rates that are to be collected in future periods. The regulatory liability represents the Company’s, unamortized, non-cash 
accrual of net PBOP actuarial gains and losses in addition to excess amounts received in rates over actual costs of the 
Company’s PBOP plans that are to be passed back in future periods. 
 
Property taxes: Under the current rate plan, the property tax regulatory asset represents 90% of actual property and special 
franchise tax expenses above the rate allowance for future collection from the Company’s customers.  
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Rate adjustment mechanisms: In addition to commodity costs, the Company is subject to a number of additional rate 
adjustment mechanisms whereby an asset or liability is recognized resulting from differences between actual revenues and 
the underlying cost being recovered or differences between actual revenues and targeted amounts as approved by the 
NYPSC.  
 
Rate plan deferral credits: Under the most recent Rate Plan order, the Company will credit electric customers with a portion 
of the forecast deferral balance in the amount of $145.9 million and $53.5 million (inclusive of $12.9 million to be used in the 
Stay out period) for electric and gas customers, respectively. These recorded credits allow for a gradual transition to full cost-
of-service rates. The rate plan deferral credit balances are being amortized in Rate Year 1, Rate Year 2, and Rate Year 3 in the 
amounts of $26.5 million, $36.7 million and $82.7 million, respectively, for the electric business and $3.5 million, $10.3 million 
and $26.8 million, respectively, for the gas business. In addition, $12.9 million is being amortized in the Stay out period for 
the gas business. 
 
Regulatory tax liability, net: Represents over-recovered federal deferred taxes of the Company primarily as a result of 
regulatory flow through accounting treatment, state income tax rate changes and excess federal deferred taxes as a result of 
the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“Tax Act”).  
 
Revenue decoupling mechanism: As approved by the NYPSC, the Company has electric and gas RDM’s which allows for an 
annual adjustment to the Company's delivery rates as a result of the reconciliation between allowed and billed revenues. Any 
difference is recorded as a regulatory asset or regulatory liability. 
 
Smart Path Connect CWIP incentive: As approved by FERC, the Company was granted an incentive in the form of recovery of 
prudently incurred costs for CWIP in rate base effective April 1, 2023 for the SPC transmission project. 
 
Storm Costs: The annual electric revenue requirements provide funding for major storm incremental costs of $30.0 million 
in each of the Rate Years under the current three-year rate plan. The deferral threshold for a major storm will be $0.75 million 
to be applied to all qualifying regions, in the aggregate, in the Company’s service territory for a given storm event.  The 
Company defers the difference between the base rate allowance and the allowable actual major storm incremental costs for 
future refund to or recovery from customers. The most recent rate plan authorizes the Company to charge the major storm 
reserve for pre-staging and mobilization costs incurred in reasonable anticipation that a storm will affect its electric 
operations to the degree of meeting the criteria for a major storm set forth in the rate case. 
 
6. RATE MATTERS 
 
Electric and Gas Filing 
 
On May 28, 2024, the Company filed to increase revenues by $525 million and $148 million, for its electric and gas businesses, 
respectively, in the twelve months ending March 31, 2026 (“Rate Year One”). While the Company’s rate filings propose new 
rates for Rate Year One only, cost data for three additional years have been included to facilitate a potential multi-year 
settlement. If approved, the new rate increases would take effect from May 1, 2025. 
 
These rate filings demonstrate National Grid’s commitment to continuing its support of New York’s energy policies and 
meeting the challenges of climate change, while also ensuring the overall reliability, resiliency, and affordability of the energy 
systems and includes numerous investments and programs that will reduce emissions and advance the clean energy goals of 
the Climate Leadership and Community Protection Act (“CLCPA”). Specific proposals include (i) electric network upgrades to 
connect renewable generation and support electric vehicles and battery storage, (ii) programs to promote heat electrification 
and non-wires/pipes alternatives; (iii) initiatives to support affordability and benefit low-income customers and 
disadvantaged communities; (iv) targeted gas main replacements and leak repairs to enhance safety and reduce system 
emissions, and (v) expanded energy efficiency, weatherization, and demand response offerings. 
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General Rate Case 
 
On September 27, 2021, the Company, the Department of Public Service (“DPS”) Staff and other settlement parties filed a 
Joint Proposal (“NIMO-JP2”) for a three-year rate plan for the Company’s electric and gas businesses beginning July 1, 2021 
and ending June 30, 2024. The highlights of the rate plan include: enhanced EAP and services for low and moderate income 
customers; initiatives to reduce methane emissions and deploy clean energy solutions, including electric vehicles (“EV”), 
battery storage and energy efficiency and demand response programs, in support of the CLCPA; support for deploying 
Advanced Metering Infrastructure (“AMI”); and funding for $3.3 billion in capital projects to improve safety, resiliency and 
reliability of our energy networks. The proposed revenue increases are 1.4% for electric operations and 1.8% for gas 
operations in Rate Year 1 and 1.9% for both electric and gas operations in Rate Year 2 and Rate Year 3. In addition, the NIMO-
JP2 also includes mechanisms that would allow the Company to extend the rate plan by nine months ("Stayout Period"). To 
mitigate the potential bill impacts on customers, the settlement applies existing deferral credits of $145.9 million and $53.5 
million for electric and gas customers, respectively, over the term of the rate plan and Stayout Period. The settlement is based 
upon a 9% return on equity and a ratemaking capital structure reflecting a common equity component of 48%. The NIMO-
JP2 includes an earnings sharing mechanism by which customers will share in earnings in excess of a 9.5% calculated return 
on equity for each rate year under the rate plan.   
 
On January 20, 2022, the NYPSC approved and adopted the three-year settlement through June 30, 2024 and supporting 
schedules for the Company’s electric and gas businesses with limited additional requirements. Pursuant to the NIMO-JP2, the 
Company recorded the Make Whole provision with new rates effective February 1, 2022 to ensure the Company was restored 
to the same financial position it would have been in had new rates gone into effect July 1, 2021. The NYPSC stated in its 
approval that the agreed upon electric and gas rate plans will result in sufficient mitigation of rate impacts on customers 
while preserving the Companies’ operational and financial stability; are consistent with the environmental, social and 
economic policies of the Commission and the State of New York, including the CLCPA; and fall within the range of potential 
litigated outcomes or otherwise provide benefits to ratepayers that could not have been achieved in a fully litigated 
proceeding. Beginning July 1, 2024, the Company will begin the Stayout Period which will continue the provisions of the 
current rate plan with some modifications, including the deferral of incremental revenue requirement over the allowance in 
base rates for the net utility plant and depreciation expense reconciliation mechanism (capped at forecast levels) and 
Commission-approved energy efficiency costs not recovered in base rates to achieve energy efficiency targets (not to exceed 
the authorized budget) for the nine months ending March 31, 2025. 
 
Advanced Metering Infrastructure 
 
On November 20, 2020, the NYPSC issued an order (“2020 AMI Order”) which approved the Company’s proposal for the 
deployment of AMI, also referred to as smart meters. The upstate New York Smart Meter program will provide our customers 
with real-time energy consumption data and tools to make clean energy choices and reduce costs.  The approval assumes a 
six-year project deployment schedule (two years of back-office systems followed by four years of electric meter and gas 
module deployment). The Company started scaled meter deployment in the third quarter of calendar year 2023 and 
anticipates the deployment of gas modules in the fourth quarter of calendar year 2024. The Company intends to install 
approximately 1.7 million electric AMI meters and 640,000 gas modules across its service territory.  In the approved rate case, 
the Company is authorized to recover $119 million of AMI-related operations and maintenance (“O&M”) expense incurred 
during the six-year AMI deployment period beginning fiscal year 2022 subject to a downward-only reconciliation at the end 
of the six-year AMI deployment period.  Likewise, the 2020 AMI Order established a capital expenditure cap for the program 
of approximately $475.2 million over the six-year AMI deployment period. 
 
Energy Affordability Programs 
 
COVID-19 Recovery 
 
On January 20, 2021, the DPS Staff issued a guidance letter regarding deferral treatment of incremental COVID-19 costs. The 
letter articulated two scenarios under which utilities could seek deferral of such costs – through change in law provisions 
contained in utilities’ existing rate plans or through a separate deferral petition. On December 16, 2021, the Company notified 
the NYPSC that under its previous and current rate plan provisions the Company has met the requirements during Rate Year 
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3 and the Stayout Period to defer, for ratemaking purposes, the unbilled fees (late payment charges and other waived fees, 
net of related savings) of approximately $17 million and $3 million, for the electric and gas businesses, respectively, resulting 
from New York State’s COVID-related orders and legislation. On February 7, 2022, the New York Companies petitioned for 
approval of an alternative recovery mechanism for the COVID-19 related unbilled fees that are deferred during the term of 
the rate plans. On June 16, 2022, the NYPSC approved the Company’s petition for an alternative recovery mechanism of 
COVID-19 unbilled fees, whereby, the Company will collect its deferral for the last fifteen months of its prior rate plan (April 
1, 2020 – June 30, 2021) of $17.1 million for the electric business and $3.4 million for the gas business through a surcharge 
effective July 1, 2022, through June 30, 2023. In addition, the NYPSC authorizes the Company to surcharge or credit the 
deferred COVID-19 unbilled fees, net of related savings, for Rate Years 1 and 2 under its current rate plan during the periods 
from July 1, 2023, through June 30, 2024, and July 1, 2024, through June 30, 2025, respectively. The order also approved the 
Company’s proposal to commit $1.9 million of the deferred unbilled fee toward customer arrearages, discussed below. In 
June 2022, the Company met the requirements under U.S. GAAP to recognize the revenues for the COVID-19 unbilled fees 
for the amounts deferred through June 30, 2022. Accordingly, the Company recorded the revenue related to the COVID-19 
unbilled fees deferral, in fiscal year 2023, of $27.5 million to revenue from ARPs and the associated interest income of $2.3 
million on the deferral to other income, net. 
 
Phase 1 Arrears Reduction Program 
 
In May 2022, the Energy Affordability Policy working group (“EAP Working Group”) issued an Arrears Report recommending, 
among other matters, to implement an arrears reduction program in two phases. The first phase (“Phase 1”) would target 
low-income customers to provide much needed COVID-19 related relief through a one-time bill credit that eliminates accrued 
arrears through May 1, 2022, with portions above the $250 million state appropriation being funded from a combination of 
sources including ratepayers. The second phase (“Phase 2”) would allow the EAP Working Group to develop a program 
designed to reduce arrears for customers who were not eligible for arrears relief under the Phase 1 program. 
 
On June 16, 2022, the NYPSC approved the recommendations made in the Phase 1 Arrears Report discussed above. The order 
authorized the implementation of the Phase 1 Arrears Reduction Program, whereby, the Company’s total EAP arrears 
reduction one-time bill credits are to be funded by approximately $40.0 million from the New York State budget allocation, a 
shareholder contribution of $1.9 million under the Company’s approved petition for alternative recovery mechanism of 
COVID-19 unbilled fees, utilization of $25 million from existing deferred EAP liabilities, with the remaining balance to be 
recovered from customers through a surcharge over a three year recovery period effective on August 1, 2022. The Company 
issued a total of approximately $105.7 million of Phase 1 EAP one-time bill credits to its electric and gas customers for the 
program. 
 
Phase 2 Arrears Reduction Program 
 
On December 23, 2022, the EAP Working Group filed the Phase 2 Arrears Report recommending that the NYPSC adopt a 
second phase of relief for COVID-19 related arrears through May 1, 2022 for residential non-EAP customers who did not 
receive relief under Phase 1 and for small commercial customers' arrears. 
 
On January 19, 2023, the NYPSC approved the EAP Working Group’s Phase 2 proposal (“Phase 2 Order”).  The Phase 2 relief 
will include a one-time bill credit to resolve arrears through May 1, 2022 for approximately 75 percent of residential non-EAP 
and small business customers, and partially resolve arrears for approximately 25 percent of remaining customers. In total, 
the Phase 2 program provided approximately $72.9 million of one-time bill credits, to eligible customers who did not receive 
relief under the Phase 1 program. The cost of the Phase 2 program bill credits and carrying costs will be funded by a 
combination of approximately $2.7 million in economic development program deferrals, with the remaining balance to be 
recovered from customers through a surcharge over a six-year period. On February 21, 2023, in accordance with the Phase 2 
Order, National Grid submitted a compliance filing and also requested a proposed uncollectible expense reconciliation 
mechanism in exchange for a future adjustment of the Phase 2 program customer surcharge, which the Company does not 
expect will have a material impact to the financial statements. It is uncertain as to when the NYPSC will respond to this 
proposal.   
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New York Energy Bill Credit  
 
On February 15, 2024, the NYPSC adopted most of the recommendations in the EAP Working Group’s New York State Energy 
Bill Credit Report filed on November 21, 2023, to provide immediate and automatic relief for all residential and non-
residential utility customers that pay into the utilities’ EAPs. Customers that do not pay into the EAP would not receive a bill 
credit. The NYPSC authorized the DPS Staff to distribute the $200 million 2023/2024 New York State budget appropriation in 
accordance with allocations consistent with the calendar year 2022 EAP expenditures. On April 5, 2024, based upon the share 
of the calendar year 2022 EAP expenditures, National Grid received $51.3 million of the $200 million New York State budget 
appropriation in the amounts of: $23.6 million for the Brooklyn Union Gas Company, $5.2 million for KeySpan Gas East 
Corporation and $22.5 million for the Company in April 2024. The Company received an extension, until September 3, 2024, 
to issue the bill credits under this program on customer’s gas and/or electric bills.  The distribution to customers for the 
funding received under this New York State program will not have any impact on the Company’s results of operations or 
financial position. 
 

New York Transmission Projects 
 
CLCPA Phase 1 
 
On November 8, 2021, the Company filed a petition, which was subsequently updated on April 8, 2022, requesting 
authorization to develop 27 local transmission projects (“Phase 1”) and approval of cost recovery mechanisms for those 
projects. On July 14, 2022, the NYPSC issued an order determining that 26 of the proposed local transmission projects qualify 
for treatment as Phase 1 investments and authorized the Company to use its existing net regulatory liabilities to offset the 
estimated $8.9 million in revenue requirement associated with the initial Phase 1 Projects that enter service prior to March 
31, 2025.  The NYPSC also authorized the Company to defer, for future recovery from ratepayers, the operations expenses 
up to $0.9 million associated with the development of subsequent Phase 1 projects through fiscal year 2025, with the 
expectation that cost recovery will transition into base rates in the Company’s next rate filing. 
 
CLCPA Phase 2 
 
On August 19, 2022, FERC accepted the New York Transmission Owners’ (a group of New York electric utilities including the 
Company) Phase 2 Cost Sharing and Recovery Agreement (“CSRA”), which was developed to recover the costs of local 
transmission upgrades determined by the NYPSC to be necessary to meet New York’s climate and renewable energy goals as 
required by the CLCPA.  CSRA provides that the costs of NYPSC-approved local transmission upgrades will be shared statewide 
among the CLCPA’s customers and recovered on a volumetric load-ratio basis. On February 16, 2023 the NYPSC issued an 
order authorizing Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corporation, New York State Electric & Gas Corporation, Rochester Gas & 
Electric Corporation and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation (the “Sponsoring Utilities”) (i) to proceed with more than $4 
billion of proposed transmission upgrades (with some modifications) and (ii) to seek recovery of associated costs through the 
previously approved CSRA. The order approved 100% of the approximately $2 billion in transmission upgrades proposed by 
the Company in the Northern New York and the Capital regions, finding the projects were well supported under the criteria 
established by the NYPSC that considered, among other factors, incremental transmission capacity, curtailment risk, and 
costs.  
 
Smart Path Connect 
 
On August 12, 2022, the NYPSC approved National Grid and the New York Power Authority’s (“NYPA”) filing seeking 
permission to construct and operate the SPC project. SPC is a bulk transmission project jointly developed with NYPA in 
Northern New York. The Company’s expected capital portion of the project, as specified in the FERC order approving the 
Company’s filing, is approximately $535 million and will upgrade approximately 55 miles of an existing double circuit North-
South transmission corridor from the Canadian border to central New York.  The NYPSC found the project will improve the 
reliability and economy of the electric system and provide increased transmission capability for renewable resources required 
to meet the State’s obligations under the CLCPA.  
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In July 2023 FERC approved the bulk of the Company’s filing under Section 205 of the Federal Power Act.  FERC’s order 
approved the Company’s request for an ROE of 10.3% for the SPC Project, a transmission incentive in the form of recovery of 
100 percent of prudently incurred costs for construction work in progress in rate base, and the statewide cost allocation 
agreement for the SPC project all effective April 1, 2023.  FERC had previously approved the Company’s request for the 100% 
abandonment incentive effective March 2022.  FERC’s July 2023 order also found that the Company’s proposed method of 
allocating General Plant and A&G expenses between the SPC project and the existing Transmission Service Charge raised an 
issue of material fact, and it set this single issue for hearing and settlement.  Settlement proceedings began in August 2023 
and are on-going at the present time. FERC allowed the proposed project rate (including the cost containment proposal) to 
go into effect April 1, 2023, subject to refund pending the outcome of the hearing and settlement procedures. 
 
At March 31, 2024, the Company had SPC related investment of $302.8 million on its balance sheet. 
 
7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
The following table summarizes property, plant and equipment at cost and operating leases along with accumulated 

depreciation and amortization: 

 

   March 31,  

  2024  2023 

  (in thousands of dollars) 

Plant and machinery  $            15,578,196             $           14,659,543 

Land and buildings  784,566  720,423 

Assets in construction  1,346,339  1,002,363 

Software and other intangibles  28,667  16,419 

Operating leases ROU assets  582,684  502,136 

Total property, plant and equipment  18,320,452  16,900,884 

Accumulated depreciation and amortization  (4,475,130)  (4,282,807) 
Accumulated amortization – Operating lease ROU 
assets  (190,672)  (157,594) 

Property, plant and equipment, net  $            13,654,650              $          12,460,483 

 
8. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Company utilizes derivative instruments to manage commodity price risk associated with its natural gas and electricity 
purchases. The Company’s commodity risk management strategy is to reduce fluctuations in firm gas and electricity sales 
prices to its customers. 
 
The Company’s financial exposures are monitored and managed as an integral part of the Company’s overall financial risk 
management policy. The Company engages in risk management activities only in commodities and financial markets where 
it has an exposure, and only in terms and volumes consistent with its core business. 
 
Volumes 
 
Volumes of outstanding commodity derivative instruments measured in dekatherms (“dth”) and megawatt hours (“MWh”) 
are as follows: 

  March 31,  

 2024  2023  

  (in thousands)         
Gas contracts (dth) 24,135  15,651  
Electric contracts (MWh) 14,255  14,227  
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Derivative Financial Instruments 
 
The following tables reflect the gross and net amounts of the Company’s derivative assets and liabilities as of March 31, 
2024 and 2023: 

March 31, 2024 

(in thousands of dollars) 

      Net amounts       

  Gross amounts  Gross amounts  of assets (liabilities)   Gross amounts   

   of recognized   offset in the  presented in the   not offset in the  Net 

   assets (liabilities)   Balance Sheets  Balance Sheets    Balance Sheets  amount 

ASSETS:  A  B  C=A+B   D  E=C-D 

Current assets            

Gas contracts  $                            119  $                             -  $                              119   $                        31  $                88 

Electric contracts                          32,731                                  -                             32,731                      26,764              5,967 

Non-current assets            

Gas contracts                                     -                                                 -                                        -                                                -                       - 

Electric contracts                             8,997                                  -                                8,997                        6,547              2,450 

Total                          41,847                                  -                             41,847                      33,342              8,505 

            

LIABILITIES:            

Current liabilities            

Gas contracts                          (2,954)                                  -                            (2,954)                           (31)           (2,923) 

Electric contracts                        (68,987)                                  -                          (68,987)                   (26,764)         (42,223) 

Non-current liabilities            

Gas contracts                                     -                                  -                                        -                                 -                       - 

Electric contracts                        (35,746)                                  -                          (35,746)                     (6,547)         (29,199) 

Total                     (107,687)                          (107,687)                   (33,342)         (74,345) 

Net liabilities  $                   (65,840)   $                             -  $                      (65,840)    $                           -  $     (65,840) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation 2024                                                                                                                                                                                                     27                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

March 31, 2023 

(in thousands of dollars) 

      Net amounts       

  Gross amounts  Gross amounts  of assets (liabilities)   Gross amounts   

   of recognized   offset in the  presented in the   not offset in the  Net 

   assets (liabilities)   Balance Sheets  Balance Sheets    Balance Sheets  amount 

ASSETS:  A  B  C=A+B   D  E=C-D 

Current assets            

Gas contracts  $                        244  $                             -  $                          244   $                      244  $                   - 

Electric contracts                       57,268                                  -                         57,268                      25,301            31,967 

Non-current assets            

Gas contracts                                  -                                  -                                    -                                 -                       - 

Electric contracts                         8,588                                  -                            8,588                        3,188              5,400 

Total                       66,100                                  -                         66,100                      28,733            37,367 

            

LIABILITIES:            

Current liabilities            

Gas contracts                         (8,740)                                  -                          (8,740)                         (244)           (8,496) 

Electric contracts                       (70,172)                                  -                       (70,172)                   (25,301)         (44,871) 

Non-current liabilities            

Gas contracts                                    -                                  -                                    -                          - 

Electric contracts                       (45,827)                                  -                       (45,827)                     (3,188)         (42,639) 

Total                     (124,739)                                  -                     (124,739)                   (28,733)         (96,006) 

Net liabilities  $                   (58,639)  $                             -  $                   (58,639)   $                           -  $     (58,639) 

 
The Company enters into enabling agreements that allow for payment netting with its counterparties, which reduces its 
exposure to counterparty risk by providing for the offset of amounts payable to the counterparty against amounts receivable 
from the counterparty. 
 
The changes in fair value of the Company’s rate recoverable contracts are offset by changes in regulatory assets and liabilities. 
As a result, the changes in fair value of those contracts had no impact in the accompanying statements of operations and 
comprehensive income. All of the Company’s derivative instruments are subject to rate recovery as of March 31, 2024 and 
2023. 
 
Credit and Collateral 
 
The Company is exposed to credit risk related to transactions entered into for commodity price risk management. Credit risk 
represents the risk of loss due to counterparty non-performance. Credit risk is managed by assessing each counterparty’s 
credit profile and negotiating appropriate levels of collateral and credit support.  
 
The Company enters into enabling agreements that allow for payment netting with its counterparties, which reduces its 
exposure to counterparty risk by providing for the offset of amounts payable to the counterparty against amounts receivable 
from the counterparty. 
 
The credit policy for commodity transactions is managed and monitored by the Finance Committee to National Grid plc’s 
Board of Directors (“Finance Committee”), which is responsible for approving risk management policies and objectives for 
risk assessment, control and valuation, and the monitoring and reporting of risk exposures. NGUSA’s Energy Procurement 
Risk Management Committee (“EPRMC”) is responsible for approving transaction strategies, annual supply plans, and 
counterparty credit approval, as well as all valuation and control procedures. The EPRMC is chaired by the Head of Treasury 
& Risk Operations and reports to both the NGUSA Board of Directors and the Finance Committee. 
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The EPRMC monitors counterparty credit exposure and appropriate measures are taken to bring such exposures below the 
limits, including, without limitation, netting agreements, and limitations on the type and tenor of trades. In instances where 
a counterparty’s credit quality has declined, or credit exposure exceeds certain levels, the Company may limit its credit 
exposure by restricting new transactions with the counterparty, requiring additional collateral or credit support, and 
negotiating the early termination of certain agreements. Similarly, the Company may be required to post collateral to its 
counterparties.  
 
The Company’s credit exposure for all commodity derivative instruments, and applicable payables and receivables, net of 
collateral, and instruments that are subject to master netting agreements, was a net liability of $65.8 million and $58.6 million 
as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  
 
The aggregate fair value of the Company’s commodity derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent features 
that were in a liability position as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 was $68.1 million and $79.1 million, respectively. The Company 
had $24.7 million and $20.3 million collateral posted for these instruments as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. At 
March 31, 2024, if the Company’s credit rating were to be downgraded by one, two, or three levels, it would be required to 
post $3.5 million, $22.8 million and $44.3 million additional collateral to its counterparties. At March 31, 2023, if the 
Company’s credit rating were to be downgraded by one, two, or three levels, it would be required to post $11.4 million, 
$41.7 million and $59.3 million additional collateral to its counterparties. 
 
9. Fair Value Measurements 
 
The following tables present assets and liabilities measured and recorded at fair value on the balance sheet on a recurring 
basis and their level within the fair value hierarchy as of March 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

  

March 31, 2024   

   Level 1    Level 2    Level 3    Total  

   (in thousands of dollars)  

Assets:         
Derivative instruments         

Gas contracts  $                           -  $                          -  $                      119    $                       119 

Electric contracts                                -                     41,503                          225                      41,728 

Securities                     19,678                                -                                -                      19,678 

Total                      19,678                     41,503                          344                      61,525 

         

Liabilities:         

Derivative instruments         

Gas contracts                                -                                -                      2,954                        2,954 

Electric contracts                                -                  103,920                          813                    104,733 

Total                     103,920                      3,767                    107,687 

Net assets (liabilities)  $                19,678  $              (62,417)    $               (3,423)        $               (46,162)    
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March 31, 2023   

   Level 1    Level 2    Level 3    Total  

   (in thousands of dollars)  

Assets:         
Derivative instruments         

Gas contracts  $                           -  $                          -  $                      244  $                       244 

Electric contracts                                -                     65,218                          638                      65,856 

Securities                     17,112                                -                               -                      17,112 

Total                      17,112                     65,218                          882                      83,212 

         

Liabilities:         

Derivative instruments         

Gas contracts                                -                          178                      8,562                        8,740 

Electric contracts                                -                  113,219                      2,780                    115,999 

Total                                 -                  113,397                    11,342                    124,739 

Net assets (liabilities)  $                17,112  $              (48,179)  $             (10,460)  $               (41,527) 

 
Derivative instruments: The Company’s Level 2 fair value derivative instruments primarily consist of over-the-counter 
(“OTC”) electric and gas swap contracts with pricing inputs obtained from the New York Mercantile Exchange and the 
Intercontinental Exchange (“ICE”), except in cases where the ICE publishes seasonal averages or where there were no 
transactions within the last seven days. The Company may utilize discounting based on quoted interest rate curves, including 
consideration of non-performance risk, and may include a liquidity reserve calculated based on bid/ask spread for the 
Company’s Level 2 derivative instruments. Substantially all of these price curves are observable in the marketplace 
throughout at least 95% of the remaining contractual quantity, or they could be constructed from market observable curves 
with correlation coefficients of 95% or higher. 
 
The Company’s Level 3 fair value derivative instruments consist of gas option and purchase, and electric option and capacity 
transactions, which are valued based on internally-developed models. Industry-standard valuation techniques, such as the 
Black-Scholes pricing model, Monte Carlo simulation, and Financial Engineering Associates libraries are used for valuing such 
instruments. For valuations that include both observable and unobservable inputs, if the unobservable input is determined 
to be significant to the overall inputs, the entire valuation is categorized in Level 3. This includes derivative instruments valued 
using indicative price quotations whose contract tenure extends into unobservable periods. In instances where observable 
data is unavailable, consideration is given to the assumptions that market participants would use in valuing the asset or 
liability. This includes assumptions about market risks such as liquidity, volatility, and contract duration. Such instruments are 
categorized in Level 3 as the model inputs generally are not observable. The Company considers non-performance risk and 
liquidity risk in the valuation of derivative instruments categorized in Level 2 and Level 3. 
 
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Company’s gas derivative instruments and 
electric derivative instruments are implied volatility, electric forward curves, and gas forward curves. A relative change in 
commodity price at various locations underlying the open positions can result in significantly different fair value estimates.  
 
Securities: Securities are included in other non-current assets on the balance sheet and primarily include equity and debt 
investments based on quoted market prices (Level 1) and municipal and corporate bonds based on quoted prices of similar 
traded assets in open markets (Level 2). 
 
10. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
The Company participates in two non-contributory defined benefit pension plans (the “Pension Plans”) and two PBOP plans 
(the “PBOP Plans,” together with the Pension Plans, the “Plans”). The Company calculates benefits under these plans based 
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on age, years of service and pay using March 31 as a measurement date. In addition, the Company also participates in defined 
contribution plans for eligible employees. The plans are sponsored by National Grid USA Service Company. 
 
Plan assets are maintained in commingled trusts. In respect of cost determination, plan assets are allocated to the Company 
based on the Company’s proportionate share of the Plan’s projected benefit obligation. The Plan’s costs are first directly 
charged to the Company based on the Company’s employees that participate in the Plan. Costs associated with affiliated 
service companies’ employees are then allocated as part of the labor burden for work performed on the Company’s behalf. 
The Company applies deferral accounting for pension and PBOP expenses associated with its regulated gas and electric 
operations. Any differences between actual pension costs and amounts used to establish rates are deferred and collected 
from, or refunded to, customers in subsequent periods. Pension and PBOP service costs are included within operations and 
maintenance expense and non-service costs are included within other income (deductions), net in the accompanying 
statements of operations and comprehensive income. Non-service costs contain components for interest cost, expected 
return on assets, amortization of actuarial gain/loss and settlement charges. Portions of the net periodic benefit costs 
disclosed below have been capitalized as a component of property, plant and equipment. 
 
Pension Plans  
 
The Pension Plans are composed of both a qualified and a non-qualified plan. The qualified pension plan provides substantially 
all union employees, as well as all nonunion employees hired before January 1, 2011, with a retirement benefit. The qualified 
pension plan is a cash balance pension plan design in which pay-based credits are applied based on service time and interest 
credits are applied at rates set forth in the plan. For nonunion employees, effective January 1, 2011, pay-based credits are 
based on a combination of service time and age. Some employees who met certain age and service requirements (referred 
to as the Transition Group) were grandfathered into the final average pay formula and upon retirement receive the greater 
of the final average pay formula or the cash balance formula benefit under the plan. The non-qualified pension plan provides 
additional pension benefits to certain eligible participants whose compensation levels exceeds Internal Revenue Service 
(“IRS”) limits. The funding policy is determined largely by the Company’s rate agreements with the NYPSC. However, the 
contribution to the qualified pension plan for any year will not be less than the minimum amount required under IRS 
regulations. During the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the Company did not make any contributions to the 
qualified pension plans. The Company does not expect to contribute to the Pension Plans during the year ending March 31, 
2025.  
 
Benefit payments to Pension Plan participants for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were $30.5 million, $136.9 
million, and $130.7 million, respectively. Benefit payments for the year ended March 31, 2023 included payments for an 
annuity contract purchase. 
 
In May 2022, the Company agreed to purchase a group annuity contract that transferred approximately $515 million of 
pension obligations and related plan assets to an insurance company. This transaction resulted in a settlement gain of $62.6 
million, which was deferred as a regulatory liability.  The Company also recognized settlement gains of $2.2 million and $10.3 
million during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, respectively, due to plan payouts that exceeded 
the threshold as prescribed in ASC 715 included in total cost above. 
 
PBOP Plans  
 
The Company’s PBOP Plans provide health care and life insurance coverage to eligible retired employees. Eligibility is based 
on age and length of service requirements, and in most cases, retirees must contribute to the cost of their health coverage. 
The PBOP Plans are funded based on rate agreements with the NYPSC. During the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 
2022, the Company did not make any contributions to the PBOP Plans. The Company does not expect to contribute to the 
PBOP Plans during the year ending March 31, 2025.  
 
Gross benefit payments to PBOP plan participants for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were $74.3 million, 
$72.0 million, and $76.7 million, respectively.  
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Net Periodic Benefit Costs  
 
The Company’s total pension (benefit) cost for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 are $(1.5) million, $(75.0) 
million, and $7.1 million, respectively. This included non-service pension costs (benefits) for the year ended March 31, 2024 
of ($24.7) million. 
 
The Company’s total PBOP (benefit) cost for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 are $(73.9) million, $(53.3) 
million, and $(46.1) million, respectively. This included non-service PBOP costs (benefits) for the year ended March 31, 2024 
of ($82.8) million. 
 
Amounts Recognized in AOCI and Regulatory Assets/Liabilities 
 
The following tables summarize other pre-tax changes in actuarial gains/losses and prior service costs recognized primarily in 
regulatory assets/liabilities and accumulated other comprehensive income for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 
2022: 
 

  Pension Plans 

  March 31, 

  2024  2023  2022 

    (in thousands of dollars)  
Net actuarial (gain) loss   $            37,899  $               103,524  $          (41,194) 

Reversal of net actuarial gain due to settlement                    103  64,826                    
 

         10,319                      
 Amortization of net actuarial gain (loss)              (4,182)            6,208  (18,031) 

Amortization of prior service cost, net                  (958)              (912)  (1,049) 

Total    $            32,862  $               173,646      $          (49,955) 

       

Change in regulatory assets or liabilities   $            32,955  $               174,048      $          (49,818) 

Change in AOCI                  (93)     (402)                    (137) 

Total    $            32,862  $               173,646    $          (49,955) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

      
 

  PBOP Plans 

  March 31, 

  2024  2023  2022 

    (in thousands of dollars)  

Net actuarial gain   $        (75,357)  $             (14,888)  $        (157,025)       

Amortization of net actuarial gain                53,160                    37,461                  29,439 

Total    $        (22,197)  $                22,573  $        (127,586)      

       

Change in regulatory assets or liabilities    $        (22,311)     $                22,584  $        (126,221)         

Change in AOCI                      114                        (11)                 (1,365) 

Total    $        (22,197)  $                22,573  $        (127,586)        

 
Amounts Recognized in AOCI and Regulatory Assets/Liabilities – not yet recognized as components of net actuarial 
gains/losses 
 
The following tables summarize the Company’s amounts in regulatory assets/liabilities and accumulated other 
comprehensive income on the balance sheet that have not yet been recognized as components of net actuarial gains/losses 
as of March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022: 
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  Pension Plans 

  March 31, 

  2024  2023  2022 

  (in thousands of dollars) 

Net actuarial (gain) loss   $             73,275  $                  39,455     $         (135,103) 

Prior service cost                  (446)                 512  1,424 

Total    $             72,829  $                  39,967      $         (133,679) 

       

Included in regulatory assets (liabilities)   $             72,608  $                  39,653     $         (134,394) 

Included in AOCI                   221                    314  715 

Total    $             72,829  $                  39,967      $         (133,679) 
       
 

  PBOP Plans 

  March 31, 

  2024  2023  2022 

  (in thousands of dollars) 

Net actuarial gain   $         (511,800)  $            (489,603)        $          (512,176) 

Prior service benefit                    (425)                    (425)  (425) 

Total    $         (512,225)  $            (490,028)        $          (512,601) 

       

Included in regulatory liabilities   $         (509,094)  $            (486,783)          $          (509,367) 

Included in AOCI                   (3,131)                          (3,245)  (3,234) 

Total    $         (512,225)  $            (490,028)        $          (512,601) 

 
Amounts Recognized on the Balance Sheet 
 

  Pension Plans  PBOP Plans 

  March 31,  March 31, 

  2024  2023  2024  2023 

  (in thousands of dollars)  

Projected benefit obligation   $         (541,642)   $          (483,887)   $     (1,177,133)  $   (1,198,858)    

Allocated fair value of assets                 943,183                  916,483              1,425,761           1,360,531  

Funded status   $            401,541   $            432,596   $           248,628    $         161,673 

         

Non-current assets   $            403,040   $            434,471  $            265,800  $         216,680 

Current liabilities                      (181)                      (203)                  (4,301)               (3,241) 

Non-current liabilities                   (1,318)                   (1,672)  (12,871)             (51,766) 

Total   $            401,541   $            432,596   $           248,628  $         161,673 

         
 
For the year ended March 31, 2024, the net actuarial loss for Pension was primarily driven by a demographic census data loss 
related to actual lump sum payments, partially offset by an increase in discount rate and slight changes in the retirement 
assumption tables resulting from a recent experience study. The net actuarial gain for the PBOP was driven by an increase in 
discount rate, savings recognized from a Pharmacy Benefit Manager market check completed for the Company’s contract, as 
well as the updated Medicare Advantage contract to reflect actual enrollment. For the year ended March 31, 2023, the net 
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actuarial loss for Pension was largely driven by asset losses due to returns that were less than expected as well as the increase 
in the cash balance interest crediting rate, offset by the increase in discount rate and slight changes to the withdrawal 
assumption resulting from the recent experience study. The net actuarial gains for the PBOP Plans were driven by the increase 
in discount rate and savings resulting from a new Medicare Advantage contract for PBOP, offset by asset losses and the slight 
withdrawal assumption changes. The net actuarial gains were partially offset by asset losses due to returns that were less 
than expected. For the year end March 31, 2022, the net actuarial gain for pension and PBOP was largely driven by the 
increase in discount rate and change in the mortality assumption resulting from the recent experience study, partially offset 
by small asset losses due to returns that were less than expected.    
 
Expected Benefit Payments 
 
Based on current assumptions, the Company expects to make the following benefit payments subsequent to March 31, 2024: 
(amounts for PBOP Plans are shown net of employer group waiver plan subsidies expected): 
 

(in thousands of dollars)  Pension   PBOP 

Years Ended March 31,  Plans  Plans 

    2025   $            51,883   $              68,342 

2026                 49,835                   71,529 

2027                 48,803                   72,707 

2028                 48,881                   73,966 

2029                 46,671                   74,965 

2030-2034               224,580                 382,962 

      Total    $         470,653   $            744,471 

 
Assumptions Used for Employee Benefits Accounting 
 

  Pension Plans 

  Years Ended March 31, 

  2024  2023  2022 

Benefit Obligations:       

     Discount rate                            5.15%  4.85%  3.65% 
     Rate of compensation increase (nonunion)                            4.30%  4.30%  4.30% 
     Rate of compensation increase (union)                            4.45%  4.45%  4.45% 
     Weighted average cash balance interest crediting rate                             5.20%                 5.25%            2.90%               
 
 
Net Periodic Benefit Costs:       

     Discount rate  4.85%  3.65%-5.05%        2.95%-3.25% 
     Rate of compensation increase (nonunion)  4.30%  4.30%  4.10% 
     Rate of compensation increase (union)  4.45%  4.45%  4.25% 
     Expected return on plan assets  6.25%  4.25%  4.00% 
     Weighted average cash balance interest crediting rate  5.25%  2.90%  2.75% 
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  PBOP Plans 

  Years Ended March 31, 

  2024  2023  2022 

Benefit Obligations:       
     Discount rate  5.15%  4.85%  3.65% 

       

       

Net Periodic Benefit Costs:       

     Discount rate  4.85%  3.65%  3.25% 

     Expected return on plan assets  6.25%-6.75%  5.00%-5.50%  5.00%-5.50% 

       
 
The Company selects its discount rate assumption based upon rates of return on highly rated corporate bond yields in the 
marketplace as of each measurement date. Specifically, the Company uses the Aon AA Only Bond Universe Curve along with 
the expected future cash flows from the Company retirement plans to determine the weighted average discount rate 
assumption. 
 
The expected rate of return for various passive asset classes is based both on analysis of historical rates of return and forward 
looking analysis of risk premiums and yields. Current market conditions, such as inflation and interest rates, are evaluated in 
connection with the setting of the long-term assumptions. A premium is added for active management of both equity and 
fixed income securities. The long-term rates of return for each asset class are then weighted in accordance with the target 
asset allocation, resulting in the expected return on plan assets for each plan.  
 
Assumed Health Cost Trend Rate 
 

  Years Ended March 31, 

  2024  2023 

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year     
     Pre 65  6.20%  6.40% 

     Post 65  5.10%  5.20% 

     Prescription  8.00%  7.10% 

     

Rate to which the cost trend is assumed to decline (ultimate) 4.50%  4.50% 

     

Year that rate reaches ultimate trend     

     Pre 65  2031  2031+ 
     Post 65  2031  2031+ 

     Prescription  2033  2031+ 
 
Plan Assets 
 
The Pension Plan is a trusted non-contributory defined benefit plan covering all eligible represented employees of the 
Company and eligible non-represented employees of the participating National Grid companies. The PBOP Plans are both a 
contributory and non-contributory, trusteed, employee life insurance and medical benefit plan sponsored by the Company. 
Life insurance and medical benefits are provided for eligible retirees, dependents, and surviving spouses of the Company. 
 
The Company manages the benefit plan investments for the exclusive purpose of providing retirement benefits to participants 
and beneficiaries and paying plan expenses. The benefit plans’ named fiduciary is The Retirement Plans Committee (“RPC”). 
The RPC seeks to minimize the long-term cost of operating the Plans, with a reasonable level of risk. The investment objectives 
of the plans are to maintain a level and form of assets adequate to meet benefit obligations to participants, to achieve the 
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expected long-term total return on the plans’ assets within a prudent level of risk and maintain a level of volatility that is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Company’s expected contribution and expense or the Company’s ability to meet 
plan obligations.  
 
The RPC has established and reviews at least annually the Investment Policy Statement (“IPS”), which sets forth the guidelines 
for how plan assets are to be invested. The IPS contains a strategic asset allocation for each plan, which is intended to meet 
the objectives of the Plans by diversifying their funds across asset classes, investment styles, and fund managers. An 
asset/liability study is conducted periodically to determine whether the current strategic asset allocation continues to 
represent the appropriate balance of expected risk and reward for the plan to meet expected liabilities. Each study considers 
the investment risk of the asset allocation and determines the optimal mix of assets for the plan. The target asset allocation 
for fiscal year-end 2024 reflects the results of such a pension study conducted and implemented in fiscal year 2024. As a 
result of that asset liability analysis, the asset mix for the Pension Plans were changed to further reduce investment risk given 
the increased funded status of the plans and to better hedge the respective plan liabilities. The non-Union PBOP Plan asset 
liability study was conducted in fiscal year 2024. As a result of that study, the RPC approved changes to the KeySpan and 
Niagara Mohawk Non-Union PBOP asset allocation effective in fiscal year 2024. The last Union PBOP study was conducted in 
fiscal year 2023. As a result of that asset liability analysis, the asset mix was changed to further reduce investment risk given 
the increased funded status of the plans and to better hedge the respective plan liabilities. Those change took effect during 
fiscal year 2023. 
 
Individual fund managers operate under written guidelines provided by the RPC, which cover such areas as investment 
objectives, performance measurement, permissible investments, investment restrictions, trading and execution, and 
communication and reporting requirements. National Grid management in conjunction with a third-party investment advisor, 
regularly monitors, and reviews asset class performance, total fund performance, and compliance with asset allocation 
guidelines. This information is reported to the RPC at quarterly meetings. The RPC changes fund managers and rebalances 
the portfolio as appropriate.  
 
Equity investments are broadly diversified across U.S. and non-U.S. stocks, as well as across growth, value, and small and 
large capitalization stocks. Likewise, the fixed income portfolio is broadly diversified across market segments and is mainly 
invested in investment grade securities. Where investments are made in non-investment grade assets the higher volatility is 
carefully judged and balanced against the expected higher returns. While the majority of plan assets are invested in equities 
and fixed income other asset classes are utilized to further diversify the investments. These asset classes include private 
equity, real estate, and diversified alternatives. The objective of these other investments is enhancing long-term returns while 
improving portfolio diversification. For the PBOP Plans, since the earnings on a portion of the assets are taxable, those 
investments are managed to maximize after tax returns consistent with the broad asset class parameters established by the 
asset liability study. Investment risk and return are reviewed by the plan investment advisors, National Grid management and 
the RPC on a regular basis. The assets of the plans have no significant concentration of risk in one country (other than the 
United States), industry or entity. 
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The target asset allocations for the benefit plans as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:  
 

  Pension Plans   Union PBOP Plans   Nonunion PBOP Plans  

 
 
 

  March 31,   March 31,   March 31,  
 
 
   2024  2023  2024  2023  2024  2023  

Equity  5%  6%  15%  15%  67%  70%  

Diversified alternatives  3%  3%  5%  5%  0%  0%  

Fixed income securities  70%  70%  80%  80%  33%  30%  

Private equity  14%  14%  0%  0%  0%  0%  

Real estate  4%  4%  0%  0%  0%  0%  

Infrastructure  4%  3%  0%  0%  0%  0%  

  100%  100%  100%  100%  100%  100%  

 
Fair Value Measurements 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2024, certain PBOP plans and trusts were consolidated. The following tables provide the 
fair value measurements amounts for the pension and PBOP assets at the trust level (includes all trusts applicable to Plans 
the Company participates in): 

  March 31, 2024 

  Level 1  Level 2  Not categorized  Total 

  (in thousands of dollars) 

Pension assets:         

Equity  $                5,020  $                      -  $                      59,442  $                64,462 

Diversified alternatives  -  -  34,250  34,250 

Corporate bonds  -  571,510  52,816  624,326 

Government securities 496  104,618  868  105,982 

Private equity  -  -  128,842  128,842 

Real estate  -  -  34,104  34,104 

Infrastructure  -  -  46,532  46,532 

         Total assets  $                5,516  $        676,128  $                   356,854  $          1,038,498 

    Pending transactions                       (25,705)   

         Total net assets        $          1,012,793 

 

PBOP assets:         

Equity  $                        -  $                  -  $                    372,797  $             372,797 

Diversified alternatives  52,213  -  4,848  57,061 

Corporate bonds  -  769,829  52,088  821,917 

Government securities  31,910  216,979  532  249,421 

Insurance contracts  -  -  160,400  160,400 

Private equity  -  -  48  48 

          Total assets  $             84,123  $     986,808  $                    590,713  $          1,661,644 

     Pending transactions                          13,122        

          Total net assets        $          1,674,766 
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  March 31, 2023 

   Level 1    Level 2     Not categorized    Total  

  (in thousands of dollars) 

Pension assets:          

Equity  $                        7   $                      -   $                      55,342   $                55,349       

Diversified alternatives  -  -   32,297  32,297 

Corporate bonds  -  526,167   76,953  603,120 

Government securities 1,871  92,485   4,399  98,755 

Private equity  -  -   138,194  138,194 

Real estate  -  -   42,021  42,021 

Infrastructure  -  -   42,162  42,162 

         Total assets  $                1,878  $        618,652   $                   391,368         $          1,011,898 

    Pending transactions                          (9,624) 

         Total net assets         $          1,002,274 

 

PBOP assets:         

Equity  $               24,128  $                    -    $                 337,465  $             361,593 

Diversified alternatives  55,246   -  4,972  60,218 

Corporate bonds  -  744,505  -  744,505 

Government securities  28,042   210,396  663  239,101 

          Total assets  $             107,416  $       954,901  $                 343,100  $          1,405,417 

     Pending transactions                          15,776         

          Total net assets        $          1,421,193 
 

The methods used to fair value pension and PBOP assets are described below:  
 
Equity: Equity includes both actively and passively managed assets with investments in domestic equity index funds as well 
as international equities. 
 
Diversified alternatives: Diversified Alternatives consist of holdings of global tactical assets allocation funds that seek to 
invest opportunistically in a range of asset classes and sectors globally. 
 
Corporate bonds: Corporate Bonds consist of debt issued by various corporations and corporate money market funds. 
Corporate Bonds also includes small investments in preferred securities as these are used in the fixed income portfolios as 
yield producing investments. In addition, certain fixed income derivatives are included in this category such as credit default 
swaps to assist in managing credit risk. 
 
Government securities: Government Securities includes US agency and treasury securities, as well as state and local 
municipal bonds. The plans also include a small amount of Non-US government debt which is also captured here. US 
Government money market funds are also included. In addition, interest rate futures and swaps are held as a tool to manage 
interest rate risk. 
 
Private equity: Private equity consists of limited partnerships investments where all the underlying investments are privately 
held. This consists of primarily buy-out investments with smaller allocations to venture capital. 
 
Real estate: Real estate consists of limited partnership investments primarily in US core open end real estate funds as well as 
some core plus closed end real estate funds. 
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Infrastructure: Infrastructure consists of limited partnerships investments that seek to invest in physical assets that are 
considered essential for a society to facilitate the orderly operation of its economy. Investments in infrastructure typically 
include transportation assets (such as airports and toll roads) and utility type assets. Investments in infrastructure funds are 
utilized as a diversifier to other asset classes within the pension portfolio. Infrastructure investments are also typically income 
producing assets. 
 
Not categorized: For investments in commingled funds that are not publicly traded and have ongoing subscription and 
redemption activity, the fair value of the investment is the NAV per fund share, derived from the underlying securities’ quoted 
prices in active markets, and they are excluded from the fair value hierarchy. Investments in commingled funds with 
redemption restrictions and that use NAV are excluded from the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Pending transactions: Accounts receivable and accounts payable are short term cash transactions that are expected to settle 
within a few days of the measurement date. 
 
Defined Contribution Plan 
 
NGUSA has defined contribution retirement plans that covers substantially all employees. For the years ended March 31, 
2024, 2023, and 2022, the Company recognized an expense in the accompanying statements of operations and 
comprehensive income of $14.1 million, $12.6 million, and $11.2 million, respectively, for matching contributions. 
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11. CAPITALIZATION 
 
Total capitalization for the Company at March 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows: 
                                                                                                                                                                                                               (in thousands of dollars) 

   March 31, 

     2024  2023 

        

        
Total shareholders' equity    $                6,135,523  $         5,517,824 

        

 Interest Rate   Maturity Date     

Unsecured Notes:        

Senior Notes 3.51%  October 1, 2024  500,000  500,000 

Senior Notes 4.28%  December 15, 2028  500,000  500,000 

Senior Notes             1.96%  June 27, 2030  600,000  600,000 

Senior Notes 2.76%  January 10, 2032  400,000  400,000 

Senior Notes 5.29%  January 17, 2034  500,000  - 

Senior Notes 4.28%  October 1, 2034  400,000  400,000 

Senior Notes 4.12%  November 28, 2042  400,000  400,000 

Senior Notes 3.03%  June 27, 2050  500,000  500,000 

Senior Notes 5.78%  September 16, 2052  500,000  500,000 

Senior Notes 5.66%  January 17, 2054  700,000  - 

        

State Authority Financing:        

1988 Series A 3.23%  December 1, 2023  -  69,800 

1985 Series B 3.29%  December 1, 2025  37,500  37,500 

1985 Series C 3.29%  December 1, 2025  37,500  37,500 

1986 Series A 3.42%  December 1, 2026  44,700  44,700 

1987 Series A 3.45%  March 1, 2027  25,760  25,760 

1987 Series B-1 3.43%  July 1, 2027  68,200  68,200 

1987 Series B-2 3.48%  July 1, 2027  25,000  25,000 

2004 Series A 3.43%  July 1, 2029  115,705  115,705 

Bonds     354,365  424,165 

        

Total debt     5,354,365  4,224,165 

        

Unamortized debt discount    (5)  (6) 

Unamortized debt issuance costs     (23,613)  (17,641) 

       Total debt less unamortized costs 
                      5,330,747             4,206,518 

Current portion of long-term debt    500,000  69,800 

Total long-term debt     4,830,747  4,136,718 
        

Total capitalization      $              10,966,270                  $         9,654,542 
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The aggregate maturities of long-term debt for the years subsequent to March 31, 2024 are as follows: 
 

(in thousands of dollars)  Maturities of 

March 31,  Long-Term Debt  
2025  $                 500,000       

2026  75,000   

2027  70,460   

2028  93,200   

2029  500,000   

Thereafter 
 

4,115,705   

 Total   $             5,354,365  
 
The Company’s debt agreements and banking facilities contain covenants, including those relating to the periodic and timely 
provision of financial information by the issuing entity and financial covenants such as restrictions on the level of 
indebtedness. Failure to comply with these covenants, or to obtain waivers of those requirements, could in some cases trigger 
a right, at the lender’s discretion, to require repayment of some of the Company’s debt and may restrict the Company’s ability 
to draw upon its facilities or access the capital markets. As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company was in compliance with 
all such covenants. 
 
Debt Authorizations 
 
The Company had regulatory approval from the FERC to issue up to $1.0 billion of short-term debt internally or externally. 
The authorization was renewed with an effective date of October 15, 2022 and expires on October 14, 2024.  The Company 
had no external short-term debt as of March 31, 2024 and 2023. Refer to Note 16, “Related Party Transactions” under 
“Intercompany Money Pool” for short-term debt outstanding with associated companies.  
 
On April 1, 2021, Niagara Mohawk petitioned the NYPSC for authorization to issue, from time to time, through June 30, 2024, 
new long-term debt in an amount not to exceed $3 billion. On September 13, 2021, the NYPSC authorized the Company to 
issue up to $2.3 billion of new long-term debt securities. The authorized securities will enable the Company to fund the 
construction of utility plant, refinance maturing and/or redeemed issues of debt, redemption of preferred stock, refinance 
callable debt, refinance short-term debt with long-term debt, finance the capital needs of the Company, and meet other 
general corporate purposes through June 30, 2024, subject to the terms of the order. In addition, NYPSC authorized the 
Company to issue debt to redeem approximately $29 million of preferred stock, if it is economical and in the best interest of 
customers. 
 
Under the authorization, on January 10, 2022, the Company issued $400 million 10-year unsecured long-term debt with a 
fixed rate of 2.759%. On September 16, 2022, the Company issued $500 million 30-year unsecured long-term debt with a 
fixed rate of 5.78%. On January 17, 2024, the Company issued $500 million 10-year unsecured long-term debt with a fixed 
rate of 5.29% and a $700 million 30-year unsecured long-term debt with a fixed rate of 5.66%. 
 
Dividend Restrictions 
 
The Company is limited by the various rate plans, NYPSC orders, and FERC orders with respect to the amount of dividends 
the Company can pay. If the Company’s total debt exceeds 55% of its total capital excluding goodwill but does not exceed 
57%, then the Company will be permitted to pay dividends up to an amount equal to but no greater than 50% of its net 
income for the previous twelve months until its average total debt for the most recent six-month period is less than or equal 
to 55%. If the Company’s total capital exceeds 57% then the Company may not pay dividends until the average total debt for 
the most recent six months ending is less than or equal to 55%. As long as the bond ratings on the least secure forms of debt 
issued by the Company and National Grid plc remain investment grade and do not fall to the lowest investment grade rating 
(with one or more negative watch downgrade notices issued with respect to such debt), the Company is allowed to pay 
dividends. During the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company was in compliance with all such covenants. 
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The Company’s filed rate plan includes a ratemaking capital structure of approximately 52% debt and 48% equity through the 
combination of long-term debt issuance and dividend payments. 
 
Cumulative Preferred Stock 
 
The Company has certain issues of non-participating cumulative preferred stock outstanding where the security is guaranteed 
by National Grid plc and can be redeemed at the option of the Company. There are no mandatory redemption provisions on 
the Company’s cumulative preferred stock. A summary of cumulative preferred stock is as follows: 
  

  Shares Outstanding  Amount   

   March 31,  March 31,  Call  

  Series   2024  2023  2024  2023  Price  

   (in thousands of dollars, except per share and number of shares data)   
$100 par value -           

 3.40% Series                    57,524                    57,524  $                  5,753  $                  5,753   $        103.50  

 3.60% Series  137,152  137,152                    13,715  13,715              104.85 

 3.90% Series  95,171  95,171                      9,517  9,517              106.00  

Golden Share  1  1                               -  -   Non-callable  

  Total                 289,848                 289,848  $               28,985  $               28,985   

 
In connection with the acquisition of KeySpan Corporation by NGUSA, the Company became subject to a requirement to issue 
a class of preferred stock, having one share (the “Golden Share”), subordinate to any existing preferred stock. The holder of 
the Golden Share would have voting rights that limit the Company’s right to commence any voluntary bankruptcy, liquidation, 
receivership, or similar proceeding without the consent of the holder of the Golden Share. The NYPSC subsequently 
authorized the issuance of the Golden Share to a trustee, GSS Holdings, Inc. (“GSS”), who will hold the Golden Share subject 
to a Services and Indemnity Agreement requiring GSS to vote the Golden Share in the best interests of New York State. On 
July 8, 2011, the Company issued the Golden Share with a par value of $1. 
 
The Company did not redeem any preferred stock as of March 31, 2024, 2023, or 2022. The annual dividend requirement for 
cumulative preferred stock was $1.1 million as of March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022. 
 
12.   INCOME TAXES 
 
Components of Income Tax Expense 
 

   Years Ended March 31, 

   2024  2023   2022 

   (in thousands of dollars) 

Current tax expense (benefit):          

Federal   $        30,105    $              6,508  $        102,537 

State                 909            (13,480)              20,403 

Total current tax expense (benefit)            31,014          (6,972)            122,940 

Deferred tax expense (benefit):       

Federal            (3,506)         9,052           (86,633) 

State            20,293           35,691              (3,639) 

Total deferred tax expense (benefit)            16,787         44,743             (90,272) 

   Amortized investment tax credits (1)               (626)           (645)           (1,284) 

      Total deferred tax expense (benefit)            16,161         44,098             (91,556) 

      Total income tax expense  $        47,175  $            37,126  $        31,384      
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(1) Investment tax credits (“ITC”) are accounted for using the deferral and gross up method of accounting and amortized over the depreciable life of the 

property giving rise to the credits. 

 
Statutory Rate Reconciliation  
 
The Company's effective tax rates for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 are 12.6%, 9.2%, and 8.8%, 
respectively.  The following table presents a reconciliation of income tax expense (benefit) at the federal statutory tax rate 
of 21% to the actual tax expense: 
 

  Years Ended March 31, 
 

 2024  2023  2022 

  (in thousands of dollars) 

Computed tax   $          78,550  $          84,379  $          75,038 

Change in computed taxes resulting from:       

     State income tax, net of federal benefit              16,749             17,547              13,244 

     Amortization of regulatory tax liability-net           (47,943)           (63,714)           (48,386) 

     Audit and related reserve movements                    778             (211)              (4,053) 

     Investment tax credits                 (626)             (645)  (1,284) 

     Other items, net                 (333)             (230)              (3,175) 

Total changes           (31,375)           (47,253)           (43,654) 

Total income tax expense  $          47,175  $          37,126  $          31,384 

 
The Company is included in the NGNA and subsidiaries consolidated federal income tax return and New York unitary state 
income tax return.  The Company has joint and several liability for any potential assessments against the consolidated group. 
 
Inflation Reduction Act 
 
On August 16, 2022, President Biden signed into law the Inflation Reduction Act ("IRA"), which may impact how the U.S. taxes 
certain large corporations. The IRA imposes a 15% CAMT on the "adjusted financial statement income" of certain large 
corporations for tax years beginning after December 31, 2022. National Grid is subject to the new CAMT on its federal income 
tax return for the tax year ending March 31, 2024. Any CAMT amount paid will generate a CAMT credit carryforward that has 
no expiration period and can be claimed against regular income tax in the future. 
 
In April 2023, the IRS released Revenue Procedure 2023-15, which provides a safe harbor method of accounting that taxpayers 
may use to determine whether certain expenditures to maintain, repair, replace, or improve natural gas transmission and 
distribution property must be capitalized as improvements by the taxpayer or currently deducted for federal income tax 
purposes. The Company does not expect the impact to be material to its results of operations, financial position, or cash 
flows. 
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Deferred Tax Components 
 

  March 31, 

  2024  2023 

  (in thousands of dollars) 

Deferred tax assets:     
Allowance for doubtful accounts  $                  58,786  $                 51,407 

Environmental remediation costs                    107,980                   103,061 

Postretirement benefits  11,098  22,084 

Regulatory liabilities                    788,013                   739,786 

Reserves not currently deducted                    111,136                      96,865 

Corporate alternative minimum tax credit                      23,444  - 

Other items                      93,866                   117,629 

Total deferred tax assets                1,194,323                1,130,832 

     

Deferred tax liabilities:     

Postretirement benefits - asset                    174,801                   170,178 

Property-related differences                1,898,811                1,833,142 

Regulatory assets                    360,938                   283,048 

Other items                        2,577  3,896 

Total deferred tax liabilities                2,437,127                2,290,264 

      

Net deferred income tax liabilities                1,242,804                1,159,432 

Deferred investment tax credits                        8,553                        9,180 

Deferred income tax liabilities, net  $            1,251,357  $            1,168,612 

 
Net Operating Losses 
 
The amounts and expiration dates of the Company's net operating losses carryforward for the year ended March 31, 2024 
are as follows: 
    

 Carryforward Amount  Expiration Period 
 (in thousands of dollars)   

Federal $                                    54,883  Indefinite 
New York                                     234,245  2040-2044 

 
As a result of the accounting for uncertain tax positions, the amount of deferred tax assets reflected in the financial 
statements is less than the amount of the tax effect of the federal and state net operating losses carryforward reflected on 
the income tax returns.  
 
Status of Income Tax Examinations 
    
The following table indicates the earliest tax year subject to examination for each major jurisdiction: 
 

Jurisdiction Tax Year 

Federal March 31, 2021 

New York March 31, 2016 
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Uncertain Tax Positions 
 
The Company recognizes interest related to unrecognized tax benefits in other interest, including affiliate interest and related 
penalties, if applicable, in other income, net, in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive income. As 
of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has accrued for interest related to unrecognized tax benefits of $2.6 million and 
$2.1 million, respectively. During the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the Company recorded interest expense 
of $0.5 million, interest income of $0.5 million, and $2.8 million, respectively. No tax penalties were recognized during the 
years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, or 2022. 
 
It is reasonably possible that other events will occur during the next twelve months that would cause the total amount of 
unrecognized tax benefits to increase or decrease.  However, the Company does not believe any other additional increases 
or decreases would be material to its results of operations, financial position, or cash flows. 
 
13.   ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 
 
The normal ongoing operations and historic activities of the Company are subject to various federal, state, and local 
environmental laws and regulations. Under federal and state Superfund laws, potential liability for the historic contamination 
of property may be imposed on responsible parties jointly and severally, without regard to fault, even if the activities were 
lawful when they occurred.  
 
The United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), and the New York State Department of Environmental 
Conservation ("DEC"), as well as private entities, have alleged that the Company is a potentially responsible party under state 
or federal law for the remediation of numerous sites. The Company’s most significant liabilities relate to former Manufactured 
Gas Plant (“MGP”) facilities formerly owned or operated by the Company. The Company is currently investigating and 
remediating, as necessary, those MGP sites and certain other properties under agreements with the EPA and the DEC. 
Expenditures incurred for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were $16.4 million, $28.4 million, and $15.0 
million, respectively.  
 
The Company estimated the remaining costs of environmental remediation activities were $413.2 million and $394.3 million 
as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. These costs are expected to be incurred over approximately 47 years, and these 
undiscounted amounts have been recorded as estimated liabilities on the balance sheet. However, remediation costs for 
each site may be materially higher than estimated, depending on changing technologies and regulatory standards, selected 
end use for each site, and actual environmental conditions encountered. The Company has recovered amounts from certain 
insurers and potentially responsible parties, and, where appropriate, the Company may seek additional recovery from other 
insurers and from other potentially responsible parties, but it is uncertain whether, and to what extent, such efforts will be 
successful. 
 
By rate orders effective July 1, 2021, NYPSC has decreased the annual rate allowance from $32.1 million to $21.1 million 
($17.9 million in electric base rates and $3.2 million in gas base rates).  Any annual spend above the $21.1 million rate 
allowance is deferred for future recovery. Previous rate orders have provided for similar recovery mechanisms (with different 
rate allowances and thresholds). Accordingly, as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has recorded environmental 
regulatory assets of $413.1 million and $394.3 million, respectively, and environmental regulatory liabilities of $86.6 million 
and $79.8 million, respectively. 
 
The Company believes that its ongoing operations, and its approach to addressing conditions at historic sites, are in 
compliance with all applicable environmental laws. Where the Company has regulatory recovery, it believes that the 
obligations imposed on it because of the environmental laws will not have a material impact on its results of operations or 
financial position. 
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14.   COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Purchase Commitments 
 
The Company has several long-term contracts for the purchase of electric power. Substantially all of these contracts require 
power to be delivered before the Company is obligated to make payment. Additionally, the Company has entered into various 
contracts for gas delivery, storage, and supply services. Certain of these contracts require payment of annual demand charges, 
which are recoverable from customers. The Company is liable for these payments regardless of the level of service required 
from third-parties. In addition, the Company has various capital commitments related to the construction of property, plant, 
and equipment. 
 
The Company’s commitments under these long-term contracts for the years subsequent to March 31, 2024 are summarized 
in the table below:  

(in thousands of dollars)  Energy  Capital 

March 31,  Purchases  Expenditures 

2025  $               193,553  $          215,337 

2026                   178,253                43,466   

2027                     75,262                20,580 

2028                     57,076                      700 

2029                     56,821                      697 

Thereafter                   223,718                           - 

 Total   $               784,683  $          280,780 

 
Legal Matters 
 
Federal and Regulatory Investigations into Allegations of Fraud and Bribery 
 
On June 17, 2021, five former employees of National Grid USA Service Company, Inc. in the downstate New York facilities 
department were arrested on federal charges alleging fraud and bribery.  The five former employees subsequently pleaded 
guilty to the charges pursuant to plea agreements and have been sentenced.  NGUSA was deemed a victim of the crimes. On 
June 23, 2021, based on the US Attorney’s announcement, the NYPSC issued an order commencing a proceeding to examine 
certain programs and related capital and O&M expenditures of NGUSA, and the New York Gas Companies. National Grid has 
fully cooperated with the NYPSC’s inquiries regarding the alleged misconduct. The Company does not expect this matter will 
have a materially adverse effect on its results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.   
 
Energy Efficiency Programs Investigation 
  
National Grid has concluded its internal investigation but continues to participate in regulatory proceedings in Massachusetts 
and Rhode Island regarding certain conduct associated with energy efficiency programs at the Company’s affiliates. At this 
time, it is not possible to predict the outcome of the investigation or determine the amount, if any, of any liabilities that may 
be incurred in connection with it by the Company or its affiliates. However, the Company does not expect this matter will 
have a material adverse effect on its results of operations, financial position or cash flows. 
 
Other Litigation 
 
The Company is subject to various legal proceedings arising out of the ordinary course of its business. The Company does not 
consider any of such proceedings to be material, individually or in the aggregate, to its business or likely to result in a material 
adverse effect on its results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.  
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Nuclear Contingencies 
 
As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had a liability of $192.5 million and $182.6 million, recorded in non-current 
liabilities on the balance sheet, for the disposal of nuclear fuel irradiated prior to 1983. The Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982 
provides three payment options for liquidating such liability and the Company has elected to delay payment, with interest, 
until the year in which Constellation Energy Group Inc., which purchased the Company’s nuclear assets, initially plans to ship 
irradiated fuel to an approved Department of Energy (“DOE”) disposal facility.  
 
The 2010 Federal budget (which became effective October 1, 2009) eliminated almost all funding for the creation of the Yucca 
Mountain repository. A Blue-Ribbon Commission (“BRC”) on America’s Nuclear Future, appointed by the U.S. Energy 
Secretary, released a report on January 26, 2012, detailing comprehensive recommendations for creating a safe, long-term 
solution for managing and disposing of the nation’s spent nuclear fuel and high-level radioactive waste. 
 
In early 2013, the DOE issued an updated “Strategy for the Management and Disposal of Used Nuclear Fuel and High-Level 
Radioactive Waste” in response to the BRC recommendations. This strategy included a consolidated interim storage facility 
that was planned to be operational in 2025. However, due to continued delays on the part of the DOE, and the amount of 
time required for DOE to select a site location and develop the necessary infrastructure for long-term spent nuclear fuel 
storage, the Company cannot predict the date at which the DOE will begin accepting spent nuclear fuel. 
 
In the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, Congress appropriated funds to the Department for interim storage activities. 
Interim storage is an important component of a waste management system and will enable near-term consolidation and 
temporary storage of spent nuclear fuel. This will allow for removal of spent nuclear fuel from reactor sites, provide useful 
research opportunities, and build trust and confidence with stakeholders and the public by demonstrating a consent-based 
approach to siting. 
 
DOE anticipates that an interim storage facility would need to operate until the fuel can be moved to final disposal. The 
duration of the interim period depends on the completion of a series of significant steps, such as the need to identify, license, 
and construct a facility, plus the time needed to move the spent nuclear fuel. 
 
15.   LEASES 

 
The Company has various operating leases, primarily related to a transmission line, buildings, land, and fleet vehicles used to 
support the electric and gas operations, with lease terms ranging between 3 and 48 years.  

 
Operating lease ROU assets are included in property, plant and equipment, net, and operating lease liabilities are included in 
other current liabilities and other noncurrent liabilities on the balance sheet. As of March 31, 2024, the Company does not 
have any finance leases. 

 
The expense related to operating leases was $57.2 million, $54.0 million, and $61.9 million for the years ended March 31, 
2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.  
 
As of March 31, 2024, the Company does not have material rights or obligations under operating leases that have not yet 
commenced. 
 
The following table presents the components of cash flows arising from lease transactions and other operating lease-related 
information: 
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Year Ended March 31, 

  2024  2023  2022 

  
 

 

(In thousands of dollars)       
Cash paid for amounts included in lease liabilities                      

   Operating cash flows from operating leases  $             57,300  $        53,956  $        61,858 

ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease 
liabilities  $             92,458  $      156,501 

 

$        54,578 

       

Weighted-average remaining lease term – operating leases  9 years  8 years  8 years 

Weighted-average discount rate – operating leases  3.91%  2.94% 
 

2.72% 

 
The following contains the Company’s maturity analysis of its operating lease liabilities as of March 31, 2024, showing the 
undiscounted cash flows on an annual basis reconciled to the discounted operating lease liabilities recognized in the 
comparative balance sheet:  
 

   Operating Leases  

Year Ending March 31,   (in thousands of dollars)  

2025   $                        56,956   

2026                             53,360  
2027                             49,639  
2028                             45,148  
2029                            39,355  

Thereafter                          264,083  

 Total future minimum lease payments                          508,541  

Less: imputed interest                          116,864  

 Total   $                      391,677         

    

 Reported as of March 31, 2024:    

Current lease liability  $                        43,645    

Non-current lease liability                          348,032  

Total   $                      391,677  

 
There are certain leases in which the Company is the lessor. Revenue under such leases was $27.3 million for the year ended 
March 31, 2024, $25.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2023, and $23.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2022. 
 
16.   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Accounts Receivable from and Accounts Payable to Affiliates  
 
NGUSA and its affiliates provide various services to the Company, including executive and administrative, customer services, 
financial (including accounting, auditing, risk management, tax, and treasury/finance), human resources, information 
technology, legal, and strategic planning, that are charged between the companies and charged to each company.  
 
The Company records short-term receivables from, and payables to, certain of its affiliates in the ordinary course of business. 
The amounts receivable from, and payable to, its affiliates do not bear interest and are settled through the intercompany 
money pool. A summary of outstanding accounts receivable from affiliates and accounts payable to affiliates is as follows: 
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    Accounts Receivable  Accounts Payable 

    from Affiliates  to Affiliates 

    March 31,  March 31, 

    2024  2023  2024  2023 

    (in thousands of dollars) 

NGUSA   $                    23  $            2,018  $          20,663  $        16,546 

NGUSA Service Company   44,910  39,132            143,029          155,657 

Other    213  2,873                    583               2,439 

Total    $            45,146  $          44,023  $        164,275  $      174,642 

 
Intercompany Money Pool 
 
The settlement of the Company’s various transactions with NGUSA and certain affiliates generally occurs via the 
intercompany money pool in which it participates. The Company is a participant in the Regulated Money Pool and can both 
borrow and invest funds. Investments in the Regulated Money Pool bear interest in accordance with the terms of the 
Regulated Money Pool Agreement. As the Company fully participates in the Regulated Money Pool rather than settling 
intercompany charges with cash, all changes in the intercompany money pool balance are reflected as investing or financing 
activities in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows. For the purpose of presentation in the statements of 
cash flows, it is assumed all amounts settled through the intercompany money pool are constructive cash receipts and 
payments, and therefore are presented as such. 
 
The Regulated Money Pool is funded by operating funds from participants. NGUSA has the ability to borrow up to $3.0 billion 
from National Grid plc for working capital needs including funding of the Regulated Money Pool, if necessary. The Company 
had short-term intercompany money pool investments of $276.8 million and $11.8 million as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. The average interest rates for the intercompany money pool were 5.2%, 2.9%, and 0.4% for the years ended 
March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. Additionally, NGUSA had committed revolving credit facilities of approximately 
$6.7 billion, all of which have expiry dates beyond March 31, 2026, with two one-year extensions. As of March 31, 2024 these 
facilities have not been drawn against and can be used to fund the money pool. 
 
Service Company Charges 
 
The affiliated service companies of NGUSA provide certain services to the Company at cost without a markup. The service 
company costs are generally allocated to associated companies through a tiered approach. First and foremost, costs are 
directly charged to the benefited company whenever practicable. Secondly, in cases where direct charging cannot be readily 
determined, costs are allocated using cost/causation principles linked to the relationship of that type of service, such as 
number of employees, number of customers/meters, capital expenditures, value of property owned, and total transmission 
and distribution expenditures. Lastly, all other costs are allocated based on a general allocator determined using a 3-point 
formula based on net margin, net property, plant and equipment, and operations and maintenance expense. 
 
Charges from the service companies of NGUSA to the Company, are mostly related to traditional administrative support 
functions. For the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 costs allocate to the Company were $725.0 million, $644.7 
million, and $620.2 million, respectively. 
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